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Mia Farber (SBN 131467)
mia.farber@jacksonlewis.com

Nima Daroulan (SBN 271367)
nima.darouian{@jacksonlewis.com
JACKSON LEWIS P.C.

725 South Figueroa Street, Suite 2500
Los Angeles, California 90017-5408
Telephone: (213) 689-0404
Facsimile: (213) 689-0430

Attorneys for Defendant
EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK J. FODERA, JR. and
MICHAEL M. BONELLA, individually
and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a
Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-50,
inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.:

NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF
ACTION TO THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF
CALIFORNIA PURSUANT TO 28
¥4§3C §§ 1332, 1367, 1441, 1446, AND

TO THE HONORABLE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE NORTHERN CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.
(“Equinox” or “Defendant”} hereby invokes this Court’s jurisdiction under the

provisions of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1367, 1441(a)-(b), 1446, and 1453, and removes the

above-entitled action to this Court from the Superior Court of the State of California in

and for the County of Alameda.

Case No.

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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1. The original Complaint was filed by Plaintiff Frank J. Fodera, Jr.
(“Fodera”) in the Superioi‘ Court of the State of California in and for the County of
Alameda on April 3, 2019.

2. On April 8, 2019, the Superior Court issued a notice for the Parties to
appear at a Complex Litigation Determination Hearing and Initial Complex Case
Management Conference on May 8, 2019 and June 5, 2019, respectively. By Order
dated May 10, 2019, the Court designated the case as complex pursuant to Rule 3.400,
et seq. of the California Rules of Court. (True and correct copies of the Notice and
Orders are attached as Exhibit “A”.)

3. On June 3, 2019, counsel for Plaintiff Fodera filed an ex parte application
for an extension of time to serve the Complaint. (A true and correct copy of the
application is attached as Exhibit “B”.)

4. On July 16, 2019, Plaintiffs Fodera and MICHAEL BONELLA
(“Bonella”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint
against Equinox, and DOES 1-50, inclusive, in the Superior Court of the State of
California in and for the County of Alameda (“Superior Court”) entitled Frank J.
Fodera, Jr. et al. v. Equinox Holdings, Inc., et al., bearing Case No. RG19013798,
which sets forth the following ten (10) causes of action: (1) Failure to Pay All Wages
Earned; (2) Failure to Pay Minimum Wage; (3) Failure to Pay Overtime Wages; (4)
Failure to Provide Meal Periods; (5) Failure to Provide Rest Periods; (6) Failure to Pay
for Rest and Recovery Periods; (7) Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage Statements; (8)
Failure to Maintain Required Records; (9) Failure to Pay Earned Wages Upon
Termination; and (10) Unfair Competition in Violation of Business and Professions
Code Section 17200, et seq. (A true and correct copy of the Summons, First Amended
Complaint and other related court documents are attached as Exhibit “C».)

5. On July 18, 2019, Defendant was served with Plaintiffs’ Summons, First

Amended Complaint, and related courts documents. (A true and correct copy of the

Case No. 2 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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Proof of Service Plaintiffs filed regarding the service of these documents is attached as
Exhibit “D”.)
TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL
6. This Notice of Removal has been filed within thirty (30) days after

Defendant first received a copy of Plaintiffs’ Summons and First Amended Complaint
upon which this action is based. This Notice of Removal is therefore filed within the
time period provided by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).

7. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), the undersigned counsel certifies
that a copy of this Notice of Removal and all supporting documents will be promptly
served on Plaintiffs’ counsel and filed with the Clerk of the Alameda County Superior
Court. Therefore, all procedural requirements under 28 U.S.C. § 1446 will be satisfied.

JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO THE CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT

8. Pursuant to Section 4 of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”),

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) has been amended to read, in relevant part:

The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any civil
action in which the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or
value of 5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and is a class
action in which — (A) any member of a class of plaintiffs is a
citizen of a State different from any defendant.

9. In addition, CAF A provides for jurisdiction in the district courts where the
proposed class involves 100 or more members, or where the primary defendants are
not States, State officials, or other governmental entities. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(5).

10.  As set forth below, this is a civil action over which this Court has original
jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). It is a civil action filed as a putative class action
in which Plaintiffs are citizens of a state different from Defendant, the Complaint’s
allegations (and Plaintiff’s own itemization of penalties) place more than $5,000,000

in controversy exclusive of interest and costs, and the putative class numbers more than

Case No. 3 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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100 members. See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d) and 1453. Furthermore, Defendant is not a
State, State official, or other governmental entity.

CAFA’s Diversity Requirement Is Satisfied

11.  CAFA’s diversity requirement is satisfied, in relevant part, when at least
one member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from any named
defendant. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2); see also Snyder v. Harris, 394 U.S. 332, 340, 89 S.
Ct. 1053, 1059 (1969) (“if one member of a class is of diverse citizenship from the
class’ opponent, and no nondiverse members are named parties, the suit may be brought
in federal court even though all other members of the class are citizens of the same
State as the defendant and have nothing to fear from trying the lawsuit in the courts of
their own State.”); Reece v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon, 760 F.3d 771, 777 (8th Cir. 2014)
(“the citizenship of ‘the entire plaintiff class’ has no bearing on the jurisdictional
inquiry. Diversity jurisdiction in a class action depends solely on the citizenship of the
named parties.”); In re “Agent Orange” Prod. Liab. Litig., 818 F.2d 145, 162 (2d Cir.
1987) (“It 1s hornbook law, based on 66 years of Supreme Court precedent, that
complete diversity is required only between the named plaintiffs and the named
defendants in a federal class action.”).

12.  Citizenship of the parties in this Action is determined by their citizenship
status at the Action’s commencement. See Mann v. City of Tucson, 782 F.2d 790 (9th
Cir. 1986).

13.  Fordiversity jurisdiction purposes, citizenship is determined by a person’s
domicile. Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 747, 749 (9th Cir. 1986); see also Crowley v. Glaze,
710 F.2d 676, 678 (10th Cir. 1983). “A person’s domicile is her permanent home,
where she resides with the intention to remain or to which she intends to return.” Kanter
v. Warner-Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001). While residence and
citizenship are not the same, a person’s place of residence is prima facie evidence of
their citizenship. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Dyer, 19 F.3d 514, 519-20 (10th

Cir. 1994) (allegation of residency “created a presumption of continuing residence in

Case No. 4 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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[state] and put the burden of coming forward with contrary evidence on the party
seeking to prove otherwise”); see also Smith v. Simmons, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
21162, at *22 (E.DD. Cal. 2008) (place of residence provides “prima facie” case of
domicile). Furthermore, a person’s intention to remain may be established by their
place of employment. Yourn Kyung Park v. Holder, 572 F.3d 619, 625 (9th Cir, 2009);
see also Francisco v. Emeritus Corp., 2017 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 90131, at *10 (C.D.Cal.
June 12, 2017). (“Plaintiff's residence and employment in California are sufficient
evidence of his intent to remain in California.”).

14, Plamntiff Fodera alleges that he is “a resident of Los Angeles County,
California.” See First Amended Complaint § 8. Furthermore, Plaintiff Fodera alleges
he is “employed by Defendants in Los Angeles, California.” Id. Plaintiff Bonella
alleges he is “a resident of San Francisco County, California.” See First Amended
Complaint § 7. Plaintiff Bonella alleges he was “employed by Defendants in San
Francisco County and San Diego County.” Id. In addition, Defendant is informed and
believes Plaintiffs are residents and citizens of the State of California. See Declaration
of Emerson Figueroa in Support of Defendant’s Notice of Removal (“Figueroa Decl.”),
99 5-6. Accordingly, Plaintiffs are citizens of the State of California within the
meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a). See, e.g., Zavala v. Deutsche Bank Tr. Co. Ams., 2013
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96719, at *9 (N.D. Cal. July 10, 2013) (“A party’s residence is ‘prima
facie’ evidence of domicile. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, [plaintiff] is a
California citizen for diversity purposes.”) (internal citations omitted).

15. A corporation is a citizen of any state in which it is incorporated and of
the state in which it has its principal place of business. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(c).

16.  Defendant, both at the time this action was commenced and at the time it
was removed to federal court, is either a citizen of the State of Delaware or the State of
New York within the meaning of Section 1332(c)(1), because it has been at all such
times a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal

place of business and corporate headquarters located in New York, New York, where

Case No. 5 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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Defendant conducts a predominance of its corporate and business activities. Moreover,
Defendant’s high-level corporate officers are located at its headquarters in New York,
New York. Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 599 U.S. 77, 130 S.Ct. 1181 (2010). See Declaration
of Neta Levanon in Support of Defendant’s Notice of Removal (“Levanon Decl.”), 4
2,

17.  Defendant’s Board of Directors typically meets at its headquarters in New
York, New York. Id. ¥ 3; see also Hertz Corp., 130 S. Ct. at 1192 (holding that a
corporation’s “nerve center” should “normally be the place where the corporation
maintains its headquarters--provided that the headquarters is the actual center of
direction, control, and coordination, i.e., the “nerve center,” and not simply an office
where the corporation holds its board meetings (for example, attended by directors and
officers who have traveled there for the occasion).”). Applying the “nerve center” test,
New York is the state where Defendant’s primary executive, administrative, financial
and management functions are conducted and where the high-level officers direct,
control, and coordinate the corporation’s activities — i.e., the principle place of
business of Defendant. See generally Levanon Decl. 9 2.

18.  Because at least one member of the class of Plaintiffs is a citizen of a state
(i.e. California) different from Defendant (i.e. Delaware or New York), minimal
diversity exists here. Bradford v. Bank of Am. Corp., No. CV 15-5201-GIK (JCx),
2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 120800, at *13 (C.D. Cal. Sep. 10, 2015) (“[defendant] needed
only to establish that one plaintiff was a citizen of a different state from any one
defendant at the time of removal.”).

19, The presence of Doe defendants has no bearing on diversity with respect
to removal. See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) (“For purposes of removal under this Chapter, the
citizenship of defendants used under a fictitious name shall be disregarded.”).
CAFA’S Amount In Controversy Requirement is Satisfied

20.  CAFA, 28 U.S.C. Section 1332(d), authorizes the removal of class action

cases in which, among other factors mentioned above, the amount in controversy for

Case No. 6 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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all class members exceeds $5,000,000. In Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Company,
LLC v. Owens, 135 S. Ct. 547, 554 (2014), the United States Supreme Court held that
where a plaintiff’s complaint is silent as to whether the amount in controversy is less
than CAFA’s jurisdictional threshold of $5,000,000, “a defendant’s notice of removal
need include only a plausible allegation that the amount in controversy exceeds the
jurisdictional threshold.”

21.  In determining whether the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000,
the Court must presume Plaintiffs will prevail on each and every one of their claims.
Kenneth Rothschild Trustv. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 199 F.Supp. 993, 1001 (C.D.
Cal. 2002), citing Burns v. Windsor Ins. Co., 31 F.3d 1092, 1096 (11th Cir. 1994) (the
amount in controversy analysis presumes that “plaintiff prevails on liability”) and
Angus v. Shiley Inc., 989 F.2d 142, 146 (3d Cir. 1993) (“the amount in controversy is
not measured by the low end of an open-ended claim, but rather by a reasonable reading
of the value of the rights being litigated”). The argument and facts set forth herein may
appropriately be considered in determining whether the jurisdictional amount in
controversy 1s satisfied. Cohn v. Petsmart, Inc., 281 F.3d 837, 843 n.1 (9th Cir. 2002),
citing Willingham v. Morgan, 395 U.S. 402, 407 n.3 (1969). Notably, “[tfhere is no
obligation by defendant to support removal with production of extensive business
records to prove or disprove liability and/or damages with respect to plaintiff or the
putative class members at this premature (pre-certification) stage of the litigation.”
Muniz v. Pilot Travel Ctrs. LLC, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31515, at *15 (E.D. Cal. Apr.
30, 2007),

22.  Under CAFA, the claims of the individual members in a class action are
aggregated to determine if the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of
$5,000,000. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)}(6). Congress intended federal jurisdiction to be
appropriate under CAFA “if the value of the matter in litigation exceeds $5,000,000
either from the viewpoint of the plaintiff or the viewpoint of the defendant, and

regardless of the type of relief sought (e.g., damages, injunctive relief, or declaratory

Case No. 7 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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relief).” Sen. Jud. Comm. Rep., S. REP. 109-14, at 42. Moreover, any doubts
regarding the amount in controversy requirement under CAFA should be resolved in
favor of federal jurisdiction. S. Rep. 109-14, at 42-43 (“[I]f a federal court is uncertain
about whether ‘all matters in controversy’ in a purported class action ‘do not in the
aggregate exceed the sum or value of $5,000,000, the court should err in favor of
exercising jurisdiction over the case . . . . Overall, new section 1332(d) is intended to
expand substantially federal court jurisdiction over class actions. Its provisions should
be read broadly . ...”).

23. Plaintiffs do not allege a specific amount in damages for the class they
purport to represent, but indicate that they seek damages in excess of twenty-five
thousand dollars ($25,000). See Plaintiffs’ Civil Cover Sheet. Thus, the amount in
controversy, as plead by Plaintiffs, is at least $25,000 per plaintiff, or at least
$107,475,000.00 ($25,000 x 4,299 putative class members). See Figueroa Decl. at §12;
see also Abrego v. The Dow Chem. Co., 443 F.3d 676, 689 (9™ Cir. 2006) (finding
jurisdictional amount met where complaint sought no specific amount in damages, but
pled the amount in controversy to exceed $25,000 and there were 1,160 class
members). For this reason alone, CAFA’s amount in controversy requirement is
satisfied.

24.  But even were this insufficient to establish jurisdiction under CAFA (and
it is not), Plaintiffs’ Complaint still meets CAFA’s amount in controversy requirement.
If a plaintiff asserts statutory violations, the court must assume that the violation rate
is 100% unless the plaintiff specifically alleges otherwise. See Muniz v. Pilot Travel
Ctrs. LLC, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31515, at *12-13 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 30, 2007) (“As
these allegations reveal, plaintiff includes no fact-specific allegations that would result
in a putative class or violation rate that is discernibly smaller than 100%, used by
defendant in its calculations. Plaintift is the ‘master of [her] claim[s],” and if she
wanted to avoid removal, she could have alleged facts specific to her claims which

would narrow the scope of the putative class or the damages sought.”) (citing

Case No. 8 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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Caterpillar, Inc. v. Williams, 482 U.S. 386, 392 (1987)); see also Arreolav. The Finish
Line, No. 14- CV-03339-LHK, 2014 WL 6982571, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 9, 2014)
(“District courts in the Ninth Circuit have permitted a defendant removing an action
under CAFA to make assumptions when calculating the amount in controversy—such
as assuming a 100 percent violation rate, or assuming that cach member of the class
will have experienced some type of violation— when those assumptions are reasonable
in light of the allegations in the complaint.”}; Coleman v. Estes Express Lines, Inc.,
730F. Supp. 2d 1141, 1149 (C.D. Cal. 2010) (“[C]ourts have assumed a 100% violation
rate In calculating the amount in controversy when the complaint does not allege a
more precise calculation.”).

25, Without admitting that Plaintiffs could recover or are entitled to any
damages individually, let alone on a class wide basis, Defendant has a good-faith belief
that Plaintiffs’ sought-after relief places the amount in controversy in this action in
excess of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

26. The First Amended Complaint herein seeks relief on behalf of “[a]ll
current and former non-exempt employees employed by any Defendant in California
as group fitness instructors, personal trainers, or in any other similar capacity, at any
time during the four-year period preceding the filing of this action through the present.”
See Complaint 9 41.

27.  Plaintiffs plead in their First Amended Complaint that they, and the
alleged putative class, are “entitled to recover” penalties pursuant to Labor Code
Section 203, seeking a penalty of up to 30 days’ wages for failure to pay all unpaid
wages at termination. See Complaint §f 110-111. From April 3, 2015 through 30 days
from the date of preparing this removal (i.e. July 17, 2019) approximately 2,495
individuals formerly employed as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both,
in California left their employment with Defendant or were otherwise “terminated.”

See Figueroa Decl., 19; see also Complaint § 105 (Plaintiffs defining “terminated” to

Case No. 9 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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include Plaintiffs and Class Members who quit, were discharged, or terminated from
employment).
28.  Plaintiffs specifically allege “Plaintiffs and Class Members regularly

worked more than 40 hours in a workweek and more than 8 hours in a workday.” See

Complaint § 21. Plaintiffs further allege that Defendant “failed to pay Plaintiffs and
other Terminated Class Members all wages earned and unpaid at the time of
Termination timely[.]” See Complaint § 107.

29.  The California minimum wage was $9.00 an hour effective January 1,
2015, $10.00 an hour on January 1, 2016, $10.50 an hour on January 1, 2017, $11.00
an hour on January 1, 2018 and $12.00 an hour on January 1, 2019. See California
Department of Industrial Relations History of California Minimum Wage Chart.

30.  Accordingly, based on the lowest possible minimum wage rate for the
calculation of penalties (7.e. $9.00 per hour) and Plaintiffs’ allegations that they — and
the putative Class Members — regularly worked at least 8 hours in a workday, the
penalties for a claim under Labor Code section 203 for the 2,495 employees equals
$5,389,200 (or 2,495 x $9.00/hr. x 8 hours x 30 days). See e.g. Lucas v. Michael Kors
(USA) Inc., No. CV 18-1608-MWF (MRWx), 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78510, at *8
(C.D. Cal. May 9, 2018) (“Defendants may use reasonable assumptions in calculating
the amount in controversy for purposes of removal.”). This alone satisfies CAFA’s
amount in controversy requirement.

31.  Further, Plaintiffs claim “at all material times set forth herein,” Defendant

failed to provide accurate wage statements as required under Labor Code section

226(a), and that “Plaintiffs and Class Members are each entitled to recover from

Defendants the greater of their actual monetary damages caused by Defendants’ failure
to comply with California Labor Code section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty not
exceeding four thousand dollars ($4,000) per employee[.]” See Complaint 9 100; see
also, e.g., Romeo v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc., No. 06CV1505 IEG (BLM), 2006 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 79881, at *8 (S.D. Cal. Oct. 30, 2006) (holding that when plaintiffs seek

Case No. 10 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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the statutory maximum in their complaint, plaintiffs “cannot avoid satisfaction of the
amount in controversy by alleging it would be ‘far from reasonable to infer that a court
or jury’ would award the statutory maximum.”),

32.  Labor Code section 226(e)(1) provides that “[a]n employee suffering
injury as a result of a knowing and intentional failure by an employer to comply with
[section 226] subdivision (a) is entitled to recover the greater of all actual damages or
fifty dollars ($50) for the initial pay period in which a violation occurs and one hundred
dollars ($100) per employee for each violation in a subsequent pay period, not to
exceed an aggregate penalty of four thousand dollars ($4,000).”Plaintiffs’ § 226(a)
claims are subject to a one-year statute of limitations. See e.g. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. §
340(a). From April 3, 2018 to approximately April 3, 2019, there are/were
approximately 2,414 current and former non-exempt employees employed by
Defendant as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both, in California, See
Figueroa Decl., § 10.

33, Asset forth in Plaintiffs’ First Complaint, Plaintiffs and the class members
are seeking the “greater” of their actual monetary damages or an aggregate penalty not
exceeding $4,000 per employee (Complaint § 100) and are therefore seeking the
“statutory maximum.” Romeo v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc., No. 06CV1505 IEG (BLM),
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 79881, at *8 (S.D. Cal. Oct. 30, 2006). Thus, based on
Plamtiffs’ requested relief, an assessment of total penalties based on the statutory
maximum could amount to up to $9,656000 ($4,000 x 2,414 employees).

34. But even assuming less than the statutory cap of $4,000 per employee,
Plaintiffs’ alleged wage statement penalties (to which Defendant denies Plaintiffs or
any putative Class Members are entitled) would exceed the amount in controversy
requirement. Members of the putative class who work or worked for Defendant
are/were paid biweekly, or every two weeks. See Figueroa Decl., § 11. The total
number of paystubs that Defendant issued to employees who are members of the

putative class during the time period of April 3, 2018 to April 3, 2019 is approximately

Case No. 11 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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62,764 paystubs (i.e. 2,414 employees x 26 weeks). Assuming a violation of Labor
Code section 226(a) (which Defendant denies) for each pay period for the time period
claimed by Plaintiffs, potential penalties are approximately $6,155,700 (fifty dollars
(850) per putative class member for the first violation and one hundred dollars ($100)
for each of the subsequent violations). See Labor Code § 226(¢)(1); see also Moppin
v. Los Robles Reg’l Med. Cir., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 129574, at *10 (C.D. Cal. Sep.
24, 2015) (district court finding that a 100% violation rate was justified because the
plaintiff there asserted in her complaint that “at all relevant times herein, defendants
intentionally and willfully failed to furnish plaintiff and the class members with
accurate wage statements,” thereby accusing defendants of “issuing inaccurate wage
statements ‘at all times’ and in regards to both Plaintiff and the class members.”); Lucas
v. Michael Kors (USA) Inc., No. CV 18-1608-MWF (MRWx), 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
78510, at *25 (C.D. Cal. May 9, 2018) (noting that “it is not unreasonable to assume
that, with this many violations alleged by Plaintiff, every one of the wage statements
issued during the one-year period could very likely have been noncompliant.”).

35.  Accordingly, just from Plaintiffs’ contention that they and the class
members are “each entitled to recover” the statutory maximum for Defendant’s alleged
failure to provide accurate wage statements (7.e. $9,476,000) the amount in controversy
exceeds $5,000,000. Alternatively, a conservative calculation of Plaintiffs’ claims for
violations under Labor Code sections 203 and 226—for Equinox’s alleged failure to pay
all wages due at termination and alleged failure to provide accurate wage statements,
respectively—can also reasonably be read to place in controversy an amount exceeding
$11,544,850 (i.e. $5,389,150 + $6,155,700, respectively). As such, based on either
calculation, the amount in controversy based on the allegations of the Complaint
exceed $5,000,000. See, e.g., Behrazfar v. UNISYS Corp., 687 F. Supp. 2d 999, 1004
(C.D. Cal. 2009) (When a “[d]efendant’s calculations were relatively conservative,

made 1n good faith, and based on evidence wherever possible,” the Court may find that
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the “|d]efendant has established by a preponderance of the evidence that the amount in
controversy exceeds $5,000,000.™),

36.  Additionally, Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint seeks an unspecified
amount of attorneys’ fees in connection with their Complaint. See, e.g., Complaint
39, 40. Such fees may be considered to determine jurisdictional amount, see Goldberg
v. CPC Int’l, Inc. 678 F.2d 1365, 1367 (9th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 1.8, 945
(1982), including those fees that are recoverable by statute, Galt G/Sv. JSS Scandinavia
142 F.3d 1150, 1155-56 (9th Cir. 1998). Indeed, the Ninth Circuit recently concluded
that “the amount in controversy is not limited to damages incurred prior to removal-—-
for example, it is not limited to wages a plaintiff-employee would have earned before
removal (as opposed to after removal). Rather, the amount in controversy is
determined by the complaint operative at the time of removal and encompasses all
relief a court may grant on that complaint if the plaintiff is victorious.” Chavez v.
JPMorgan Chase & Co., 888 F.3d 413, 414-15 (9th Cir. 2018); see also Lucas v.
Michael Kors (USA) Inc., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78510, at *32 (C.D. Cal. May 9,
2018) (“unaccrued post-removal attorneys’ fees can be factored into the amount in
controversy.”).

37.  “Courts in this circuit have held that, for purposes of calculating the
amount In controversy in a wage-and-hour class action, removing defendants can
reasonably assume that plaintiffs are entitled to attorney fees valued at approximately
twenty-five percent of the projected damages.” Fong v. Regis Corp., No. C 13-04497
RS, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 275, at *23 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 2, 2014); see also Hamilton v.
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No. ED CV 17-01415-AB (KKx), 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
162856, at *16 (C.D. Cal. Sep. 29, 2017) (“The Ninth Circuit has allowed an estimate
fee award of 25% of a plaintiff’s damages in calculating the amount in controversy
under CAFA.”); Gutierrez v. Stericycle, Inc., No. LA CV15-08187 JAK (JEMXx), 2017
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20975, at *51 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 14, 2017) (“it is appropriate to include

in the calculation of the amount in controversy a potential fee award of 25% of the

Case No. 13 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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value of certain of the substantive claims.”); Herrera v. Carmax Auto Superstores Cal.,
LLC, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 188729, at *12 (C.D. Cal. June 12, 2014) (“Substantial
authority supports a ‘benchmark’ 25 percent attorneys’ fees figure to be added to any
claim for which attorneys’ fees are available.”),

38. Here, the projected damages of Plaintiffs’ claims of inaccurate wage
statements and waiting time penalties may surpass $11,544,850, which itself exceeds
the jurisdictional requirement. Twenty-five percent of this amount is $2,886,212.50.
Of course, in addition to these claims, Plaintiffs have also asserted claims for, infer
alia, failure to pay all wages earned; failure to pay minimum wage; failure to pay
overtime wages; and unfair competition. See Complaint 9 50-55, 57-63, 65-71, 117-
118.

CAFA’s Numerosity Requirement Is Satisfied

39. CAFA also requires that “the number of members of all proposed plaintiff
classes in the aggregate” exceeds 100, a standard satisfied by the Complaint here. See
28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5).

40.  Here, Plaintiffs allege “it is estimated that the Class will number greater
than 100.” See Complaint 9 43. Furthermore, based upon Defendant’s records, the
putative class includes approximately 4,299 current and former employees who were
employed by Defendant as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both, in
California between April 3, 2015 and approximately August 6, 2019. See Figueroa
Decl., § 12. As such, this Court properly has jurisdiction over this matter, as the class
proposed by Plaintiffs contains in excess of 100 members.

TRADITIONAL DIVERSITY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. §
1332

41.  Separately and independently, the Court has subject matter jurisdiction
over this case on the basis of 28 U.S.C §§ 1332 and 1441, because this is a civil action
between citizens of different States, in which the amount in controversy exceeds the

sum of $75,000, exclusive of costs and interests.

Case No. i4 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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Traditional Diversity Is Satisfied

42. As noted above, Plaintiffs are both citizens of California. See First
Amended Complaint 9 7 - 8. As discussed, Equinox is incorporated in Delaware and
headquartered in New York and is therefore a citizen of Delaware and New York. See
Levanon Decl,, § 2. Moreover, as previously discussed, the presence of Doe defendants
has no bearing on diversity with respect to removal. See supra 17.

43.  Therefore, this is an action between California citizens, on the one hand,
and a citizen of New York and/or Delaware, on the other hand, so as to vest this Court
with traditional diversity jurisdiction.

The Amount In Controversy Requirement for Traditional Diversity Jurisdiction

is Satisfied

44,  This action also meets the amount in controversy requirement for removal
based on traditional diversity jurisdiction. Specifically, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) authorizes
the removal of cases in which, among other factors addressed above, the amount iﬁ
controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs.
Where the plaintiff’s complaint is silent to the amount of damages claimed, the
removing defendant need only establish that it is more probable than not that the
plaintiff’s claim exceeds the jurisdictional minimum. Guglielmino v. McKee Foods,
Corp., 506 F.3d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 2007); Sanchez v. Monumental Life Ins. Co., 95 F.3d
856, 860-61 (9th Cir. 1996). That is, a plaintiff’s failure to specify in the complaint the
total amount of damages she secks does not deprive this Court of jurisdiction. See,
e.g., White v. J.C. Penney Life Ins. Co., 861 F.Supp. 25, 26 (S.D. W.Va. 1994) (a
defendant may remove a suit to federal court notwithstanding the failure of plaintiff to
plead a specific dollar amount in controversy; if the rules were otherwise, “any plaintiff
could avoid removal simply by declining . . . to place a specific dollar value upon its
claim.”),

45. In assessing diversity jurisdiction in a multi-plaintiff action, if one

plaintiff’s claims “satisfy the amount-in-controversy requirement, but the claims of
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other plaintiffs do not, . . . § 1367(a) confers supplemental jurisdiction over all claims,
including those that do not independently satisfy the amount-in-controversy
requirement, if the claims are part of the same Article Il case or controversy.,” See
Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., 545 U.S. 546, 558-59, 125 S. Ct. 2611, 2620
(2005); see also Geerlof v. C&S Wholesale Grocers, Inc., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
51428, at *20 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 11, 2014) (“Should at least one Plaintiff meet the $75,000
requirement, the Court may exercise its supplemental jurisdiction over the claims of
the remaining Plaintiffs.”); Alcatel Lucent United States, Inc. v. Dugdale Communs.,
Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22226, at *14-15 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 5, 2010) (“In an action
involving multiple plaintiffs, a federal court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction
over a co-plaintiff’s claims that fail to meet the jurisdictional amount in controversy if
(1) at least one plaintiff satisfies the amount in controversy, (2) the other clements of
diversity jurisdiction are satisfied, and (3) the plaintiff’s claims are part of the same
‘case or controversy.’”).

Here, the jurisdictional amount is satisfied because Plaintiff Fodera’s claims
exceed the sum or value of $75,000, and because all of Plaintiffs’ claims are part of the
same Article ITI case or controversy. See Alcatel Lucent United States, Inc. v. Dugdale
Communs., Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22226, at *16 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 5, 2010) (“In
order to determine whether the claims are part of the same case or controversy, the

133

Court will examine whether they involve a ‘common nucleus of operative fact.”); see
also Complaint § 47 (“The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of all members
of the Class they seek to represent because all members of the Class sustained injuries
and damages arising out of Defendants’ policies, practices, and common course of
conduct in violation of law, and the injuries and damages of all members of the Class
were caused by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in said violation of law, as alleged
herein.”).

46. Fodera alleges that he “regularly worked more than 40 hours in a

workweek and more than 8 hours in a workday,” and that Defendant maintained a
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policy of requiring him to perform various duties off the clock “at all relevant times

within the applicable class period.” Complaint §§24-31, 67, 69. Fodera does not allege

the precise number of overtime hours worked and further does not allege the rate at
which he believes payment was due. Id ; see also Lucas v. Michael Kors (USA) Inc.,
2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78510, at *8 (C.D. Cal. May 9, 2018) (“Defendants may use
reasonable assumptions in calculating the amount in controversy for purposes of
removal.”). Instead, Fodera only notes that he “is, and within the four last years
preceding the filing of this action was, employed by Defendants as a group fitness

7%

instructor in L.os Angeles County, California.” Complaint § 8. Based on the lowest
possible minimum wage rate for the “applicable class period,” and assuming solely for
purposes of removal that Fodera worked ten (10) hours of overtime per week during
the applicable class period for which he was allegedly not compensated, the amount
placed in controversy with respect to Fodera’s claim for failure to pay overtime wages
is at least $25,950 (i.e. $10.00 per hour x 1.5 [$15.00/hour] x 10 hours x 173 weeks).
47.  As discussed, Fodera also alleges he “regularly worked” more than 8
hours in a workday, and that Defendant “failed to pay Plaintiffs and other Terminated
Class Members all wages earned and unpaid at the time of Termination timely[.]”
Complaint § 108. Thus, based on the lowest possible minimum wage rate for the
calculation of penalties (i.e. $10.00 per hour), and Fedora’s allegations that he regularly
worked at least 8 hours in a workday, the penalties for a claim under Labor Code

section 203 for Fodera would equal $2,400.00 (§10.00/hr. x 8 hours x 30 days).

48.  As further discussed, in light of Fodera’s claim that “at all material times

set forth herein” Defendant failed to provide accurate wage statements as required

under Labor Code section 226(a), and assuming a violation of Labor Code section
226(a) for each pay period for the time period claimed by Fedora, the number of
potentially inaccurate wage statements supports an assessment of total potential
penalties of at least $2,550 (fifty dollars ($50) for the first violation, and one hundred
dollars ($100) for each subsequent violation). See Labor Code § 226(e)(1); see also

Case No. 17 NOTICE OF REMOVAL
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Lucas v. Michael Kors (USA) Inc., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78510, at *25 (C.D. Cal.
May 9, 2018) (noting that “it is not unreasonable to assume that, with this many
violations alleged by Plaintiff, every one of the wage statements issued during the one-
year period could very likely have been noncompliant.”).

49.  Accordingly, just from Fodera’s claims for (i) failure to pay overtime
wages, (i1) failure to pay wages earned at termination, and (iii) failure to furnish
accurate wage statements, Defendant estimates the amount in controversy arising from
these three claims to be a minimum of $30,900.00 Of course, Fodera also includes
claims for, inter alia, failure to pay all wages earned, failure to provide meal and rest
periods, and unfair competition in violation of Business and Professions Code section
17200, which only further add to the amount in controversy. See Complaint §§ 50-55,
73-85, 114-118.

50. Inaddition, Fodera alleges that he is entitled to recover his attorneys’ fees
pursuant to Labor Code § 218.5, Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5, and “any other
applicable sections.” Complaint §§ 39, 40. As discussed, attorneys’ fees are properly
included in the amount in controversy for purposes of evaluating diversity jurisdiction.
Galt G/S v. JSS Scandinavia 142 F.3d 1150, 1156 (9th Cir. 1998) (“where an
underlying statute authorizes an award of attorneys' fees, either with mandatory or
discretionary language, such fees may be included in the amount in controversy.”).
Moreover, the Court may examine the nature of the action and the relief sought and
take judicial notice of attorney’s fee awards in similar cases. See e.g. Rutledge v.
Healthport Techs., LLC, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26453, at *4 n.3 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 24,
2017).

51. District courts in the Ninth Circuit have acknowledged “attorneys
handling wage-and-hour cases typically spend far more than 100 hours on the case.”
Lippold v. Godiva Chocolatier, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 47144, at *11 (N.D. Cal.
Apr. 15, 2010); see also Cagle v. C&S Wholesale Grocers, Inc., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
21571, at *30 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 18, 2014). Here, Plaintiffs are represented by the law
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firm Makarem & Associates, and specifically, attorneys Ronald W. Makarem
(principal attorney) and Samuel D. Almon (a senior associate attorney). See
Complaint. Over two years ago, Mr. Makarem represented that his hourly rate was
$640.00, and that the hourly rate for a senior associate attorney at his firm was $510.00.
See Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice in support of Notice of Removal, Exhibit
1. Thus, at a blended rate of $575.00/hour, attorneys’ fees would reach $57,500 after
just 100 billable hours. Id., see also Velazquez v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 2013 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 202124, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 11, 2013) (finding an hourly rate of $600
to be “reasonable” in a wage and hour case);, Anderson v. Nextel Retail Stores, LLC,
2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71598, at *24 (C.D. Cal. June 30, 2010) (noting that hourly
billing rates ranging from $450 to $515 for associates and $600 to $750 for partners
are reasonable in a “straightforward wage-and-hour litigation™).

52. Moreover, as discussed, Fodera is also seeking attorneys’ fees pursuant to
Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5. Complaint 19 40, 118; see also Serrano v. Unruh,
32 Cal.3d 621, 639 (Cal. 1982) (“We hold therefore that, absent circumstances
rendering the award unjust, fees recoverable under section 1021.5 ordinarily include
compensation for all hours reasonably spent, including those necessary to establish and
defend the fee claim.”) Velasquez v. Khan, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28956, at *11 (E.D.
Cal. Sep. 28, 2005) (district court awarding reasonable attorney’s fees, pursuant to
section 1021.5, in the amount of $192,555.00); Castro v. Chang Sup Han (In re Chang
Sup Han), 2015 Bankr. LEXIS 3210, at *32 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. Sep. 22, 2015) (awarding
professional fees and costs of $138,866.50 for services rendered and $9,377.42 for
costs, for a total of $148,243.92, pursuant to California Labor Code § 1194(a) and
California Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5).

53.  In short, the amount in controversy requirement for traditional diversity
jurisdiction is easily satisfied. Even without considering several of Fodera’s claims
(including his Business & Professions Code § 17200 claim), Fodera’s individual claims

place in controversy in excess of $75,000: $25,950 [unpaid overtime work] + $2,400.00
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[statutory penalties for failure to pay wages at termination] + $2,550.00 [civil wage
statement penalties] + $57,500.00 [attorneys’ fees] = $88,400.00. Although this is the
minimum amount Fodera has placed in controversy, Defendant nevertheless disputes
that Fodera — or any Plaintiff — is entitled to recover anything by virtue of this action,

54. Accordingly, pursuant to both § 1332(d)2) (diversity jurisdiction
pursuant to CAFA) and § 1332(a) (traditional diversity jurisdiction), the amount in
controversy requirement is satisfied here.

YENUE IS PROPER
55.  Venue lies in the United States District Court for the Northern District of

California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) and 1391(c) because the State action was
filed in this district and Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in the Northern
District of California,

56. WHEREFORE, Defendant removes the above-entitled action now
pending in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Alameda to
this Court.

Respectfully submitted,
Dated: August 16, 2019 JACKSON LEWIS P.C.

By: _/s/ Mia Farber
Mia Farber
Nima Darouian

Attormneys for Defendant
EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

4835-6780-1761, v. 1
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. 1
[ Makarem & Associates 1 3 Equirox Holdings, Inc.
Attn: Almon Esq, Samuel D.
11601 Wilshire Blvd.
Ste 2440
L Los Angeles, CA 90025 J L J
Superior Court of California, Cunty of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse
Fodera No. RG19013798
Plointill/Petitioneda)
Vs,
Equinox Holdings, Inc. NOTICE OF HEARING
Defendant/Respondent(s)
{Abbrevinted Title)

To each party or to the attomey(s) of record for each party herein:

Notice is hereby given that the above-entitled action has been set for:

Complex Determination Hearing
Case Management Conference

You are hereby notificd 1o appear at the following Court location on the date and
time noted below:

Complex Determination Hearing:
DATE: 05/08/2019 TIME: 09:00 AM DEPARTMENT: 21
LOCATION: Administration Building, Fourlh Floor

£221 Oak Street, Ozkland

Case Management Conference;
DATE: 06/05/2019 TIME: 09:01 AM DEPARTMENT: 21
LOCATION; Administration Building, Fourth Floor

1221 Qak Street, Oakland

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 3.400 et seq. and Local Rule 3.250 (Unified Rules of
the Superior Court, County of Alameda), the above-entitled matter is st for a Complex Litigation
Determination Hearing and Initial Complex Case Management Conference.

Department 21 issues tentative rutings on DomainWeb (www.alameda.courts.ca. govidomainweb),
For parties lacking access to DomainWeb, the tentative ruling must be obtained from the clerk at
(510) 267-6937. Please consult Rule 3.30(c) of the Unified Rules of the Superior Court, County of
Alamedn, concerning the tentative ruling procedures for Department 21.

Counsel or party requesting complex litigation designation is ordered to serve a copy of this notice
on all partics omitted from this notice or brought into the action after this notice was mailed.

All counsel of record and any unrepresented partics are ordered to attend this Initial Complex Case
Management Conference unless otherwise notified by the Court.

Failure to appear, comply with local rules or provide a Case Management Conference statement
may result in sanctions, Case Management Statements may be filed by E-Delivery, by submitting
dircctly to the E-Delivery Fax Number (510) 267-5732. No fee is charged for this service, For
further information, go to Direct Calendar Departments at
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http:fiapps.alameda.courts.ca.gov/domainweb.

All motions in this matter to be heard prior fo Complex Litigation Determination Hearing must be
scheduled for hearing in Department 21.

If the information contained in this notice requires change or clarification, please contact the
courtroom clerk for Department 21 by e-mail at Dept.21@alameda.courts.ca.gov or by phone at
(510) 267-6937.

TELEPHONIC COURT APPEARANCES at Case Management Conferences may be available by
contacting CoustCall, an independent vendor, at least 3 business days prior to the scheduled
conference. Partics can make arrangements by calling (888) 882-6878, or faxing a service requost
form to (888) 883-2946, This service is subject to charges by the vendor.

Dated: 04/08/2019 Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Court

By Bb M‘ﬂ“’ @'&"j
Deputy Clerk

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
I certify that the following is true and correot: 1am the clerk of the above-named conrt and not g party to
this cause, I served this Notice by placing copies in envelopes addressed as shown hereon and then by
sealing and placing them for collection, stamping or metering with prepaid postage, and mailing on the date
stated below, in the United States mail at Alameda County, California, following standard court practices.

Executed on 04/09/2019. e

Deputy Clerk



Case 3:19-cv-05072 Document 1-1 Filed 08/16/19 Page 4 of 6

Makarem & Associatés
Attn: Almon Esa, Samue} D, 4’ %},
11601 Wilshire Bivd, % 2 0 .
Ste 2440 » (0/3’
Los Angeles, CA 90025 ¢
_Superior Court of California, County of Alnmeda 85
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse
Fodora No. RG19013798
PlainifiPelitioner(s)
Order
Vs, .
Complaint - Cther Emplgment .
Equinox Holdings, Ing, ' . .
. ‘ DefendmU/Respondent{s)

{Abbrevinted 'itle)

b LNt -

The Complex Determination Hearing was set for hearing on 05/10/2019 at 09:00 AM in Department 21
before &e Honorable Winifred Y. Smith. The Tentative Ruling was published and has not been
contested,

IT 1S HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: COMPLEX DETERMINATION

The Court designates this case as complex pursuant to Rule 3.400 et seq. of the Califonia Rules of
Court, Counsel are advised to be familiar with the Alameda County Local Rules conwminF cornplex
litigation, including Rule 3,250 et seq. An order assigning the case to one of the three complex judges
and an initial case management order will be issued,

COMPLEX CASE FEES

Pursuant to Governmeat Code section 70616, any non-exempt party who has ::gpeared in the action but
has kot paid the complex case fee is required to an the fee within ten days of the filing of this order.
The comﬁlex case fes is $1,000 for cach plaintiff or group oflglamtiﬂ‘s appearing together and $1,000
PER PARTY for each defendanl, intervenor, respondent or other adverse party, whether filing
separately or jointly, up to a maximum of $18,000 for all adverse parties. All payments must identify
on whose behalf the fee Is submitted. Pleaso submit payment to the attention of the Complex Litigation
Clerk located in the Civil Division at the Rene C. Davidson Courthouse, 1225 Fallon Street, Qakland,
CA 94612, Pleass make check(s) payabla to the Clerk of the Superior Court. Documents may
continue to bo filed as allowed under Loeal Rule 1.9. Noto that for those admitted pro hac vice, there is
also an annual fee, (Gov't Code section 70617.)

PROCEDURES

Calendar information, filings, and tentative rulings are available to the public at

hitp:/fwww.alameda courts,ca.gov/domainweb/,  All counsel are expected to be familiar and to comply

with pertinent provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, the California Rules of Court, the Alameda

g.‘oumy Superior Court Loocal Rules and the procedures outlined on the domain web page of the assigned
cpariment.

SERVICE OF THIS ORDER

Order
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Counsel for plaintifi{s) shall have a continuing obligation to serve a copy of this order o newly joined
parties defendamt not listed on the proof of service of this order and file proof of service, Each party
defendant joining any third party cross-defondant shail have & continuing duty to serve a copy of this
order on niewly joined cross-defendants and to file proof of service.

. Fuctredy .
Dated: 051012019 ISPy ’7 ¢

Judge Winifred Y, Smith

Order
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse

. Case Number: RG19013798
Order After Hearing Re: of 05/10/2019 e e

DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY MAIL

| certify that | am not a party to this cause and that a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document was mailed first class, postage prepaid, in a sealed envelops,
addressed as shown on the foregoing document or on the attached, and that the

malling of the foregoing and execution of this cerlificate occurred at
1225 Fallon Street, OCakland, California.

Executed on 06/16/2018.
Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Court

o (70 K

Deputy Clerk
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MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES APLC
Ronald W. Makarem, Bsq, (SB#180442)
Sarnuel D, Almon (SB# 243569)

11601 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2440

Los Angeles, California 90023-1760

Phone: %310) 312-0299; Fax:(310) 312-0296

on behalf of afl others similarly situated.

FRANK J, FODERA, JR. and MICHAEL M.
BONELLA, individually and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Plpintiffs,
Vs,

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware
corporation; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Attorneys for Plaintiffs FRANK J, FODERA, JR,
and MICHAEL M. BONELLA, individually and

Filed 08/16/19 Page 3 of 88

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE, OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA

CASENO.: RG19013798

CLASS ACTION

FIRST AMENRDED CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT FOR:

(1) Failure to Pay All Wages Earned;

(2) Fallure to Pay Minimum Wage;

(3) Failure to Pay Overtime Wages;

(4} Failure To Provide Moal Periods;

(5) Failure To Provide Rest Perlods;

(6) Fallure To Pay for Rest and Recovery
Perlods;

(7) Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage
Statermoents;

(8) Fallure to Maintain Required
Rocords;

(9) Failure to Pay Earned Wages Upon
Termination;

(10)Unfair Competition in Violation of
Business and Professions Code Soctien
17200 -

[JURY TRIAL DEMANDED]

-
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Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA and MICHAEL M. BONELLA (“Plaintiffs”), individually
and on behalf of all similarly situated individuals, hereby comiplain and allege as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1. This case arises out of the failure of Defendants EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.
(“Equinox Holdings™) and Does 1-50 (together with Equinox Holdings, “Defendants™) to pay all

wages owed to non-exempt employees, failure to pay all overtime hours earned, (ailure to provide

compliant meal and rest periods, failure to provide accurate wage statements, failure to pay for

separate rest and recovery periods in connection with piece-rate work, failure to fumnish accurate
wage statements, and failure to pay all wages owed at the time of termination, among other things.
9. Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated individuals (collectively, the “Class” or

“Class Members™) were employed by Defendants during the four years preceding the filing of this

action, and continued while this -acticn was pending (the “Class Period”), and were denied the

benefits and protections required under the California Labor Code and other statules and

regulations applicable to employees in the State of California.

3. Plaintiffs and Class Members allege that Defendants (1) failed to pay Plaintiffs and

Class Members all wages earned; (2) failed to pay Plainti{fs and Class Members required minimum

wages; (3) failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members required overtime wages; (4) failed to
provide Plaintiffs and Class Members with compliant meal periods and failed to pay one hour of
pay at Class Members’ regular rate of compensation for each workday that a compliant meal period

was not provided; (5) failed to authorize and permit compliant rest periods and failed to pay one

hour of pay at Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ regular rate of compensation for each workday that -

a compliant rest period was not authorized and permitted; (6) failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class
Members for rest and recovery periods separately from, and in addition to, their picce-rale pay for

piece-rate work performed pursuant to Labor Code § 226.2; (7) failed to furnish Plaintiffs and Class

Members with complete and accurate wage statements; (8) failed to maintain required records; (9)

failed fo pay Plaintiff Bonella and Class Members all earned wages after their employment ended

-
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in violation of Labor Code §§ 201 and/or 202; and (10) violated California’s Unfair Business

Practices Act, California Business & Proféssions Code §§ 17200, et seq.
4. -Plaintiffs and Class Members, pursuant to Business & Professions Code §§ 17200-

17208, also seek injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgerment of all benefits Defendants enjoyed

from their failute to pay prc:pei‘ compensation,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pucsuant to Code of Civil Procedure §
410.10. The action is brought pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 382 and Civil Code § 1781 -
ef seq. Plaintiffs bring this aclion on their own behaif, and on behalf of all persons within the Class
as hereinafter defined.

6.  Venue of this action in the County of Alameda is proper pursuant to Code of Civil
Procedure §§ 395(a) and 395.5, in that many of the wrongful acts complained of herein oecurred
in Alameda County, and Defendants are found, maintain offices in, and/or transact business in '
Alameda County.

THE PARTIES

7 Plaintiff MICHAEL M, BONELLA (“Bonella”) is a resident of San Francisco
Counly, California, and was employed by Defendants in San Francisco County and San Diego .
County, California as a non-exempt employee within the last four years preceding the filing of this
action. Bonella is a former employee of Defendants, and was employed by Defendants as a
personal trainer and as a group fitness instructor in California within the last four years preceding
the filing of this action.

8. Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA, JR. (“Fodera™) is a resident of Lds Angeles County, '
California, and was employed by Defendants in Los Angeles County, California, as a non-exeimpt
employee within the last four years preceding the filing of this action. Fodera is employed by
Defendants as a group fitness instructor in California, and within the four last four years preceding

the filing of this action, Fodera was employed by Defendants as a personal trainer in California.

-3
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9, Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that EQUINOX HOLDINGS,
INC. is and at all times relevant hereto was a Delaware corporation doing business in Alameda
County, California and other counties in the State of California.

10. The truc names and capacities of Defendants Does 1 through 50, inclusive, and each
of them, are unknown to Plaintiffs, who sue said defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs are
informed and believe and thercon allege that each of the defendants fictitiously named herein is
legally responsibie in some actionable manner for the events described herein, and thereby
proximately caused the damage to Plaintiffs and the members of the Class. Plaintiffs will seek leave
of Court to amend this Complaint to state the true name(s) and capacitics of such fictitiously named’
defendants when the same have been ascertained.

1. Plainti{fs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all times relevant herein,
each defendant aided and abetted, and acted in concert with and/or conspired with each and svery
other defendant to commit the acts complained of herein and to engage in a course of conduct and
the business practices complained of herein.

2. Defendants, including Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are now, and/or at all times
mentioned in this Complaint were, the affiliates of some or al] other Defendants, and vice-versa, and
in doing the thing alleged in this Complaint, Defendants were directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by or under common control with such other Defendants.

13, Defendants, including Does | through 50, inclusive, arc now, and/or at all times
mentioned in this Complainl were, the agents, servants and/or employees of some or all other
Defendants, and vice-versa, and in doing the things alleged in this Complaint, Defendants are now
and/or at all times mentioned in this Complaint were acting within the course and scope of that
agency, servitude and/or employment. |

14. Defendants, including Does 1 through 30, Inclusive, are now, and/or at all times
mentioned in this Complaint were, members of, and/or engaged in, a joint venture, partnership and

common enterprise, and acting within the course and scope of, and in pursuance of said joint venture,

partnership and common enterprise,

4
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




Case 3:19-cv-05072 Document 1-3 Filed 08/16/19 Page 7 of 88

15. Defendants, including Does 1 through 50, inclusive, at all times mentioned in this
Complaint approved of, condoned and/or otherwise ratified each and every one of the acts and/or

omissions alleged in this Complaint.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

{6. . Thisisa class action pursuant to Section 382 of the California Code of Civil Proceldure'
to vindicate rights afforded to the class by California labor law. This action is brought on behalf of
Plaintiffs and all similarly situated current and former employees who worked for Defendants as
non-exempt employees within the State of California within the four years preceding the filing of
this lawsuit.

17.  On information and belief, Defendants are in the business of, among other things,
owning and operating luxury health clubs throughout California. According to Defendants’ website,
Defendants currently have approximately 30 locations in California, including in Alameda County,
and news outlets have reported on additional locations planned in San Francisco, Los Angeles, and
San Diego County.

18.  Defendants employ group fitness instructors and personal trainers at their health clubs,
including in Alameda County, as non-exempt employees.

19.  During Plaintiffs’ and Class Members® entire embloyment with Defendants, Plaintiffs
and Class Members were not exempt from the Employment Laws and Regulations, and Defendants
ireated Plaintiffs and Class Members as non-exempt employees. Plainiiffs and Class Members
primarily engaged in non-exempt duties delegated to non-exempt employees such as, for example,
performing personal {raining sessions, teachin.g group fitness classes, cleaning and straightening up
the facilities during “floor shifts,” preparing client exercise programs, communicating with clients
outside of personal training sessions, and attending mandatory meetings and trainings.

20.  During Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ entire empioyment with Defendants, Plaintiffs
and Class Members speni few to none of their working hours performing work which was primarily

intellectual, managerial or creative, or which required the regular and customery exercise of

-5.
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discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance on more than an
occasional basis.

21.  On information and belicf, Plaintiffs and Class Members regularly worked more than
40 hours in a workweek and more than 8 hours ina workday, During their employment, Plaintiffs

and Class Members suffered damages for the wage and hour violations commilted by Defendants

described below.

22.  During Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ entire employment with Defendants,
Defendants' policies provided that Plaintiffs and Class Members were to be paid at an hourly rate
for time that they were clocked in while performing certain tasks, such as, for example, personal
training sessions, teaching group fitness classes, cleaning and straightening up the facilities during

“floor shifts” and attending mandatory meelings and trainings.

23. Defendanls’ policies also provided that Plaintiffs and Class Members were to be paid
on a piece-rale basis for certain tasks, Under Defendants’ piece-rate compensation policies,

Plaintiffs and Class Members were to be paid a fixed sum each time they completed a particular

lask, such as, for example, performing a personal training session or teaching a group fitness class. -

24. Defendants also regularly suffered or permitted Plaintiffs and Class Members to
perform a wide range of unpaid, off-the-clock work. Some of this off-the-clock work consisted of
tasks which Defendants referred to as “session related activities.,” “Session related activities”
included, for example, interacting with clients outside of personal training and group fitness
sessions, creating calendars, and preparing client programs. “‘Session related activities" included
tasks (hat were not directly related to performing a personal training or group fitness session,

25. During Plaintiffs’ and Class Members' entire employment with Delfendants,
Defendants also regularly suffered or permitted Plaintiffs and Class Members to perform other work
off the clock that was not designated “session related actjvities.” For cxample, Defendants regutarly.
required Plaintiffs and Class Members, while not clocked in, to perform work including, without
limitation, manually scheduling work-related meetings, corresponding with supervisors, and

contacting prospective customers. Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs or Class Members for time

-6-
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spent performing off-the-clock work.

26.  Although Defendants suffered or permitted Plaintiffs and Class Members to work off,
the clock, including, without limitation, by performing “session related aclivities” and other off-the-
clock work, Defendants neither compensated Plaintiffs and Class Members for such work nor
counted those hours for purposes of calculating overtime,

27. Instead of paying Plaintiffs and Class Members for each hour worked, Defendants’
stated policy was to engage in wage averaging, whereby Defendants purported to determine whether
the piece-rate compensation paid, divided by the time spent performing the session plus the time
spent performing unpaid “scssion related activities”, resulted in an average hourly rate of at least
minimum wage.

28, In practice, Defendants discouraged and/or protiibited Plaintiffs and Class Members
from recording all time they worked performing session related activities and other offthe-clock
work. Consequently, Defendants’ records did not reflect al} hours worked by Plaintiffs and Class
Members.

29.  During Plaintiffs” and Class Members® entire employment with Defendants, under
Defendants’ compensation policies, Plaintiffs and Class Members were entitled to receive certain
non-discretionary bonuses if they met cerfain objective criteria. Defendants repeatedly failed to pay
earned non-discrctionafy bonuses when due.

30. Defendants also repeatedly failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members, among other
things, all piece-rate pay eamed. For example, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class
Members for all personal training sessions and group fitness classes performed in the applicable pay
period.

31. Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs and Class Membets all overtime compensation
carned. For example, Defendants did not consider Plaintiffs® and Class Members’ off-the-clock
work when calculating overtime wages, resulting in Plaintiffs and Class Members not being paid all
overtime wages due. As another example, upon information and belief, in calculating overtime

wages, Defendants failed 1o consider all non-discretionary bonuses carned by Plaintiffs and Class

.-
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Members, including, among other reasons, because Defendants failed lo pay all carned non-
discretionary bonuses when due and failed to include them in Plaintiff’s and Class Members' pay
checks and wage statements.

32.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members minimum wage for all hours

worked, including uncompensated off-the-clock work which Defendants suffered or permitted

Plaintiffs and Class Members to perform.

313. Defendants did nol provide Plaintiffs or Ciass Members with compliant and timely

thirty-minute meal periods. For example, Defendants regularly failed to provide meal periods until

after Plaintiffs and Class Members had completed a work period of more than five hours. As another

example, Plaintiffs and Class Members were regularly required to take mea) periods of less than 30
minutes in order 1o timely return to their job duties, such as, for example, to avoid being late for
their next training session.

34, Ifan employer fails to provide an employee with compliant and timely thirty-minute
meal periods, the employer must pay the employee a premium paymext of one hour of pay at the
employee’s regular rate of compensation for each workday that the meal period is not provided. Yet
Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members premium payments for ¢ach missed or non-
compliant meal period.

15.  Defendants did not authorize or permit Plaintiffs or Class Members to take compliant
and timely ten-minute rest periods, For example, Plaintiffs and Class Members regularly worked
four hours or more continuously without a paid ten-minute rest break, Asanother example, Plaintiffs
and Class Members regularly worked-between two and four hours continuously without a paid ten-,
minute rest break, on days in which they worked three and one-half hours or more.

36. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members premium payments for each
shift with a missed or non-compliant rest periods.

37.  With respect to work that Plaintiffs and Class Members performed on a piece-rate
basis, Defendants failed to compensate Plaintiffs and Class Members for rest and recovery periods’

separate from any piece-rate compensation, and failed to calculate such compensation as required

-8-
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under Labor Code § 226.2(a)(3).

18, Asa result of these violations, Defendants also failed to provide complete and accurate
wape statements, failed to maintain proper records, and failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members
all amounts owed upon termination of employment, Defendants also thereby violated California’s
Unfair Business Practices Act, California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200,

39.  Plaintiffs seek attorneys’ fees pursuant to California Labor Code section 218.5 and
any other applicable sections.

40.  Plaintiffs also scek restitution and disgorgement of all sums wrongfully obtained by
Defendants through unfair business practices in violation of California Business & Professions Code
section 17200, ef seq., to prevent the Defendants from benefiting from their unlawful, fraudulent
and unfair acts. Such sums recovered under the Unfair Competition Act and Unfair Businesses Act
are equitable in nature and are not to be considered damages. Plaintiffs are also entiiled to costs,
attorneys’ fees, interest and penalties as provided for by the Labor Code, the Business & Professions:

Code and Code of Civil Procedure§1021.5,
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

41. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all ather similarly situated
persons as & class action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 382. The Classes Plaintiffs

seck to represent are composed of and defined as follows:

All current and former non-exempt employces employed by any
Defendant in California as personal trainers, or in any other strilar
capacity, at any time during the four-year period preceding the filing of

this action through the present.

All current and former non-exempt employees employed by any
Defendant in California as group fitness instructors, or in any other
similar capacity, at any time during the four-year period preceding the

filing of this action through the present.

9.
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42.  This action has been brought and may be maintained as a class action pursuant to Code
of Civil Procedure Section 382 because there is & well-defined community of inlerest among many
persons who comprise a readily ascertainable class,

43,  Numerosity and Ascertainability (C.C.P. § 382): The potential number of Class
Members as defined is so numerous that joinder of all members would be infeasible and impractical. '
The disposition of their claims through this class action will benefit both the parties and this Courl.
The number of putative Class Members is unknown at this tiime, however, it is estimated that the
Class will number greater than 100. The identity of such membership can be readily ascertained
from Defendants’ employment records.

44,  Superiority (C.C.Y. § 382): The nature of this action and the nature of laws available
to Plaintiffs make the use of the class action format particularly efficient and appropriate. By
establishing a technique whereby the claims of many individuals can be resolved at the same time,
the cldss suit both eliminates the possibility of repetitious litigation and provides small claimants
with a method of obtaining redress for claims which would otherwise be too small to warrant’
individual litigation. Class action treatment will allow a large number of similarly situated persons
to prosecute their common claims in a single forum, simultancously, efficiently, and without the
unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that numerous individua! actions would require. The
actual monetary recovery due to most of the individual Class Members is likely to be small, and the
burden and expense of individual litigation would make it prohibitive for individual Class Members
to seek relief. A class action will serve an important public interest by permitting such individuals
to effectively pursue recovery of the sums owed to them. Further, class litigation prevents the
potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments if individual Class Members were to litigate

separately.
45.  Well-defined Community of Interest: Plaintiffs also meet the three factors for
cstablishing a community of interest: (1) predominant common questions of law or facl; (2) a class

representative with claims or defenses typical of the class; and (3) a class representative who can

-10-
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adequately represent the class, (see, e.g. Lockheed Martin Corp. v, Superior Court (2003)29 Cal.4™.
1096), as follows:

46. Predominant Questions of Law or Fact: There are common questions of law and/or
fact as to the members of the Class which predominate over questions affecting only individual
members of the Class, inctuding, without limitation:

a. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 204 by not paying. Classl
Members for all wages earned during each pay period;

b. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 1194 by not paying Class
Members the legal minimum wage for all hours worked;

c. Whether Defendants violuted Labor Code Sections 510 and 1194 by not properly.
paying overtime wages to Class Members for all hours worked in excess of eight
hours in one day, in excess of 40 hours in one workweek, and in during the first
eight hours on the seventh day of work in one workweek, and by failing to pay
Class Members their overtime wages a the required double time rate for hours
worked in excess of 12 hours a day and in é_xcess of eight hours on the seventh
day of a workweek;

d. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 512 by not providing Class
Members with compliant meal periods;

e. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 512 by not authorizing and
permitting Class Members to take compliant rest periods;

f  Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 226.7 by not paying Class
Members additional pay for shifts when Class Members did not rceeive compliant
meal or rest periods;

g. Whether Defendants violated Labor code section 226.2 by not paying Class’
members separately for rest and recovery periods with respect to work performed
on a piece-rate basis, and by not propetly calculating compensation for such rest

and recovery periods;

11-
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h. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 226(a) by not providing Class
Members with accurate wage statements; '
i, Whether Defendants are liable for penalties for failure to maintain the records
required under Labor Code Sections 226 and 1174,
j.  Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Sections 201 or 202 by not paying Class
Members all wages due upon termination in a timely manner;
k. Whether Class Members who are no longer working for Defendants are entitled to
waiting time penalties under Labor Code Section 203;
1. Whether Defendants’ conduct constituted unfajr competition or an unlawful
business praclice under Business and Professions Code Section 17200, el seq.
m. Whether injunctive relief is appropriate to ensure Defendants’ compliance with’
the Labor Code with respect to members of the Class currently working for
Defendanls;
0. Whether Class Members are entitled to attorneys' fees;
0. Whether Class Members are entitled to pre<judgment inferest;
p. Whether Class Members are entitled to restitution; and
q. Whether the fact each Class Member might- be required to ultimately justify an
individual claim does or does not preclude maintenance of a class action. See
Collins v. Rocha (1972) 7 Cal.2d 232,
47. Typieality: The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of all members of the-
Class they seek to represent because all members of the Class sustained injuries and damages arising
out of Defendants’ policies, practices, and common course of ‘¢onduct in violation of law, and the
injuries and damages of all members of the Class were caused by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in
said viclation of law, as alleged herein,
48.  Adequacy: Plaintiffs Frank I. Fodera; Jr. and Michael M. Bonella;
a, are adequate representatives of the Class they seek to represent;

b. will fairly protect the interests of the members of the Class;

-12-
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c. have no interests antagonistic to the members of the Class; and
d. will vigorously pursue this suit via attorneys who are competent, skilled and
expericnced in litigating matters of this type.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay All Wages Earned
(Against All Defendants)

49. Plaintiffs incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

50. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and other Class Members were employees covered by

Labor Code Section 204.

51.  Pursuant to Labor Code Section 204, Plaintiffs and the other Class Members were

entitled to receive on regular paydays all wages earned for the pay period corresponding to the

payday.
52.  Defendants fuiled (o pay Plaintiffs and other Class Members for all wages earned each

pay period on the regular payday for the pay period. The earned and unpaid wages include, but are

not limited ta, additional pay for missed meal and rest periods, unpaid wages for piece-rate work,

wages for hours worked off the clock, and overtime wages.

53 California law does not allow an employer to avoid paying its employees for all hours
worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downtown
LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal, App. 4th 36, 40-41 (2013); Armenta v. Osmose, Inc., 135 Cal. App. 4th
314, 324 (2005).

s4.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and other Class Members have
suffered damages in an amount according to proof at trial,

55. Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 218, 218.5 and 218.6, Plaintiffs and other Class

Members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment interest,

reasonablc attorney's fees and costs of suit.

13-
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SECQOND CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay Minimum Wage
(Agninst All Defendants}
56. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

57.  Atall relevant times, Plaintiffs and other Class Members were employces covered by
Labor Code section 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

58, Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order,.
Plaintiffs and Class Members were entitled to minimum wage for all hours worked.

59 Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times within
the applicable Class Period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members their earned
wages for. all hours worked in accordance with Labor Code Section 1194 and the applicable
Industrial Wage Order. For example, Defendants regularly required Plaintiffs and Class Members
to work off the clock. ’

60. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintitfs and Class Members have
suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent that they were not paid for all hours
worked,

61. California law does not allow an employer to avoid paying its employges for all hours
worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked, See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downtown
LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal. App. 4th 36, 40-41 (2013); Armenta v. Osmose, Inc., 135 Cal. App. 4th
314, 324 (2005). |

62. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194, Plaintiffs and Class Members are entitled to
recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment infcrcst, reasonable attorneys’ fees and

costs of suit.

63. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194.2, Plaintiffs and Class Members are entitled to

recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereor:.

-14-
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay Overtime Wagces
(Against All Defendants)

64. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully staled herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

65. Atall relevant times, Plaintiffs and the other Class Members were employees covered
by Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

€6. Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order,
Plaintiffs and the other Class Members were entitled to overtime wages payable atthe rate of at least
one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all work in excess of eight hours in one workday,
in excess of forty hours in one workweck, or during the first eight hours worked on the seventh day-
of one workweek, and payable at the rate of at least twice the regular rate of pay for all work in
excess of twelve hours in one workday or in excess of eight hours worked on the seventh day of one

workweek.

67. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiffs and the other Class Members for all overtime
worked in accordance with Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable [ndustrial Wage
Otder. Plaintiffs are informed and believes and thereon allege. that at all relevant times within the
applicable class period, Defendants maintained and continue to maintain a policy or practice of*

requiring Plaintiffs and other Class Members to perform various duties off the clock without

. compensating them for all their hours actually worked, including time in excess of eight hours in a

day, in excess of forty hours in a workweek, and/or time worked on the seventh day of work in one

workweek,

68.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times within'
the applicable class period, Defendants maintained and continue to maintain a policy or practice of
undercalculating Plaintiffs® and Class Members' regular rate of pay, including by failing to include

all earned nondiscretionary bonuses in Plaintiff’s and Class Members® regular rate of pay.

-15-
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69. California law does not allow an employer to avoid paying its employees for all hours‘
worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downlown
LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal. App. 4th 36, 40-41 (2013); Armenta v. Osmase, Inc., 135 Cal, App. 4ih
314, 324 (2005).

70.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and other Class Members have.
suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent {hey were not paid for all overtime

wages earned.

71.  Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194, Plaintiffs and other Class Members are entitled
to recover the full amount of their unpaid overtime wages, prejudgment interest, reasonable

attorney’s fees and costs of suil.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Provide Meal Periods
(Against All Defendants)

72.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out abave in the preceding paragraphs,

73, Al all relevant times, Plaintiffs and Class Members were employees covered by Labor
Code Sections 226.7 and 512, and the applicable Indusirial Wage Order.

74.  Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide that
no employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal
period of not less than 30 minutes. |

75.  Labor Code § 226.7 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide that if an
employer fails lo provide an employee with a meal period in accordance with this se;:tion, the
employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation.
for each Jive (5) hours of work that the meal period is not provided.

76, During the Class Period, Defendants have routinely failed to provide the Class
Members, including Plaintiffs, with compliant meal periods prior to the end of the employees’ fifth

hour of work, and have failed to compensate Class Members, including Plaintiffs, for those non-

-16-
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compliant meal periods, as required by California Labor Code § 226.7 and other applicable sections

of the Employment Laws and Regulations.

77.  No Class Members, including Plaintiffs, are exempt from the meal period

requirements of the Employment Laws and Regulations.
78.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and Class Members have

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid additional pay for:

meal period violations.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Provide Rest Periods
(Against All Defendants)

79.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all thc-.
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

80.  Adall relevant times, Plaintiffs and Class Members were employees covered by Labor
Code Sections 226.7 and 512, and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

81. Labor Code Sections 226.7 and 512 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide-
that employers shall authorize and permit employees to take rest periods at the rate of ten (10)
minutes net rest time per four (4) hours of work or major fraction thereol.

82. Labor Code Section 226.7 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order further provide
that if an employer fails to provide an employee rest periods in accordance with this Jaw, the
employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compcnsation-
for each workday that the rest period is not authorized and permitted.

83, During the Class Period, Defendants have routinely failed to authorize and permit the
Class Members, including Plaintiffs, to take rest periods duriné their work shifts, and have failed to
compensate Class Members, including Plaintiffs, for those non-compliant rest periods, as required.
by California Labor Code Section 226.7 and other applicable sections of the Employment Laws and

Repulations.

-17-
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g4. NNo Class Members, including Plaintiffs, are exempt from the rest period requirements

of the Employment Laws and Regulations,

85. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and Class Members have

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid additional pay for

rest period violations.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay for Rest and Recovery Periods
(Against All Defendants)

8G. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set oul above in the preceding paragraphs.

87.  Atall relevant times, Plaintiffs and Class Members were employees covered by Labor .
Code Section 226.2 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

88. Labor Code Seclion 226.2 provides that employees shall be compensated for rest and
recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from ahy piece-rate compensation.

89. Labor Code Scction 226.2 further provides that employees shall be compensated for
rest and récovery periods at a regular hourly rate that is no less than the higher of: (i) an average
hourly rate determined by dividing the total compensation for the workweek, exclusive of
compensation for rest and recovery periods and any premium compensation for overtime, by the
total hours worked during the workweel, exclusive of rest and récovery periods, or (if) the applicable
minimum wage,

90.  Plaintiffs are informed and believes and thercon allege that at all relevant times within.
the applicable Class Period, Defendancs failed to pay Plaintiffs and Class Members for rest and
recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from any piece-rate compensation,

91.  Plaintiffs arc further informed and believes and thereon allege that at all relevant times
within the applicable. Class Period, Defendants failed to properly calculate the regular hourly rate of.

compensation for rest and recovery periods and other nonproductive time.

-18-
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92.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and Class Members have
suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent that they were not paid all
compensation owed for rest and recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from any .
piece-rate compensation

93. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194, Plaintiffs and Class Members are entitled to
recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fecs and
costs of suit.

94,  Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194.2, Plaintiffs and Class Members are cntitled to
recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage Statcments
(Against All Defendantsy
95.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

96. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and other Class Members were employees of

Defendants covered by Labor Code Section 226.
97. California Labor Code Section 226(a) provides that:

An employer, semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages,
shall furnish to his or her employee, either as a detachable part of the
checl, draft, or voucher paying the employee’s wages, or separately if
wages are paid by personal check or cash, an accurate itemized
stalement in writing showing (1) gross wages carned, (2) total hours
worked by the employee, except as provided in subdivision (), (3) the
number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece rate if the
employee is paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) all deductions, provided that
all deductions made on written orders of the employee may be
aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net wages earned, (6) the
inclusive dates of the pericd for which the employee is paid, (7) the
name of the employce and only the last four digits of his or her social
security number or an employee identification number other than a
social securily number, (8) the name and address of the Jegal entity
that is the employer and, if the employer is a farm labor contractor, as
defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1682, the name and address of
the legal entity that secured the services of the employer, and (9) all
applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the
corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the

-19-
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employee and, beginning July 1, 2013, if the employer is a temporary
services employer as defined in Section 201.3, the rate of pay and the
total hours worked for each temporary services assignment.

08.  Further, the relevant wage orders of the Industriél Welfare Commission applicable to
Plaintiffs’ and Class Members' employment with Defendants require employers to maintain
accurate information regarding, among other ltems, “[t]ime records showing when the employee
begins and ends each work period. Meal periods, split shift intervals and total daily hours worked
shall also be recorded. Meal periods during which operations cease and authorized rest periods need
not be recorded.” '

99. At all material times set forth herein, Defendants cither recklessly or intentionally
failed to make, keep and preserve true, accurate records of, among other things, the actual number
of hours worked each workday and workweck by Plaintiffs and Class Members, when Plaintiffs and
Class Members took required meal and rest periods, meal and rest period premiums that were owed
{o Plaintiffs and Class Members, and the number of picce-rate units earned and any applicable piece.

rate.

100. As & result of Defendants’ unlawful conduet, Plainti{fs and Class Members are cach
entitled to recover from Defendants the greater of their actual monctary damages caused by
Defendants® failure to-comply with California LaborCode section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty
not exceeding four thousand dollars ($4,000) per employee, at a rate of $50 per pay period with
incomplete or inaccurate wage stalement, and an award of costs and reasonable altorneys’ fees

pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(c).

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failurc to Maintain Required Records [Cal. Labor Code §§ 226, 1174]
(Against All Defendants)
101, Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set oul above in the preceding paragraphs.
102. During the Class Period, as parl of Defendants’ illegal payroli policies and practices

intended to deprive Plaintiffs and Class Members of all wages eamed and due, Defendanis:

.20-
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knowingly and intentionally fail\ed to maintain records as required under California Labor Code
sections 226 and 1174, and the applicable Industrial Wage Order, including but not limited to the
following records: all hours worked by Plaintiffs and other Class Members; all piece-rate
compensation due to Plaintiffs and other Class Members; all compensation for rest and recovery
periods and other nonproductive lime scparate from any picce-rate compensation due to Plaintiffs
and other Class Members; all bonuses due to Plaintiffs and other Class Members; meal periods; rest
periods; and accurate itemized wage stalements.

103. As a proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful actions and omissions, Plaintiffs and
other Class Members have been damaged in an amount according to proof at trial, and are entitled
to all wages earned and due, plus interest thereon. Additionally, Plaintiffs and other Class Members
are entitled to all available statutory penalties, including but not limited to civil penalties pursuant
to California Labor Code sections 226(e), 226.3, and 1174.5, and an award of attorneys’ fees, and
expenses and costs of suit, including but not limited to 1hosc. provided by California Labor Code

section 226(¢) as well as other available remedies.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay Wages Earned At Termination Or Discharge fLabor Code §§ 201, 202]
(Against All Defendants)

104. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallegés as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

105. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and Class Members who quit, were discharged, or
terminated (collectively referred fo as “Tenninated” or “Termination™) from employment with
Defendants are and wera covered by Labor Code sections 201 and/or 202.

106. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 201 and 202, Plaintiffs and Class Members were:
entitled to receive, upon termination, all wages earned and unpaid at the time of termination. If an
employce is discharged, all wages earned and unpaid are due and payable immediately upon
discharge. If an employee quits his or her employment, his or her wages shall become due and

payable not later than 72 hours thereafler, unless the employee has given 72 hours previous notice

21-
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of his or her intention to quit, in which case the employee is entitied to his or her wages at the time -
of quitting,

107, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and other Terminated Class Members atl wages
eamed and unpaid at the time of Termination timely in accordance with Labor Code sections 201
and 202. Their earned and unpaid wages at the time of Termination include, but are not limited to,
hours worked off the clock, hours worked overtime, additional pay for missed or non-compiiant.
meal and rest periods, unpaid piece-rate compensation due, unpaid compensation for rest and
recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from any piece-raie compensation due
Terminated Class Members, and unpaid bonuses.

108. Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiffs and other Terminated Class Members all wages.
earned prior to Tenmination in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202 was willful.
Defendants had the ability to pay all wages earned by employees prior to termination in accordance
with Labor Code sections 201 and 202, but intentionally followed a practice or adopted a policy that
violaled Labor Code sections 201 and 202.

109, Pursuant fo Labor Code sections 201 and 202, Plaintiffs and other Terminated Class
Members are entitled to all wages earned prior to Termination that Defendants failed to pay them.

110. California Labor Code section 203 provides that if an employer willfully fails to pay,
without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202, any wages
of the employee shall continue as a penally (fom the due date thereof ai the same rate until paid or_
until an action therefore is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days,

[11. Therefore, Plaintiffs and other Terminated Class Members are entitled 1o recover from
Defendants the statutory penalty for each day they were not paid, at their regular rate of pay — not
ta exceed 30 days — pursuani to California Labor Code section 203.

112. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 218 and 218.5, Plaintiffs and other Terminated Class’
Members are entitled to recover the_ir unpaid wages, waiting time penalties under Labor Code

section 203, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit. Pursuant to Labor Code section 218.6

-22- .
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and/or Civil Code section 3287(&1), Terminated Class Members arc entitled to recover prejudgment

interest.
TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Unfair Competition [Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, ef seq.]
(Against All Defendants)

113. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

(14. Defendants are “persons” as that term is defined under Business & Professions Code
section 17021, Business & Professions Code scction 17200 defines unfair compeiition'as any
unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice.

115. Defendants’ violation of the Employment Laws and Regulations as alleged in this-
Complaint, including Defendants’ (a) failure to provide complaint meal periods or authorize and
permit compliant rest periods; and (b) failure to pay all earned wages upon termination, constitute
unfair business practices in violation of Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq.

116. As a result of Defendants’ unfair business practices, Defendants have reaped unfair
benefits and illegal profits at the expense of Class Members, and o the detriment of members of the.
public. Defendants should be made to disgorge their ill-gotten gains and restore them to Plaintiffs
and other Class Members, Pursuant to Business & Professions Code section 17203, Plaintiffs and
other Class Members are entitled to restilution of the wages and other monies withheld, deducted,
and/or retained by Defendants during a period that commences four years prior to the filing of this.

action.

117. Pursvant to Business & Professions Code section 17203, Defendants’ unfair business
practices entitle Plaintiffs (o seek preliminary and permanent injunctive relief including, but not
limited to, orders that Defendants account for, disgorge, and restore to Plaintiffs and other Class

Members ali compensation unlawfully withheld from them.

-23.
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118. Plaintiffs and other Class Members are entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees
in connection with their unfair competition claims pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section

1021.5, the substantial benefit doctrine, and/or the common fund doctrine.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all Class Members, prays for

judgment in his favor and against Defendants as follows:
a.) CLASS CERTIFICATICN
i. An order that the action be certified as a class action,
il An order that Plaintiffs be certified as the representatives of the Class;
i, An order that counsel for Plaintiffs be confirmed as Class Counsel;
b) ON THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
i Datmnages for unpaid wages earned but not paid each pay period in an amount

according to proof;

it. Prejudgment interest;

iii. Reasonable attorney’s fees;

iv. Costs of suit;

V. Such ather relief as the Court deems just and propet;

c) ON THE SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

i, Damages for unpaid minimum wages according o proof;
ii. Liquidated damages;

iti. Prejudgment interest;

iv. Reasonable attorney's fees;

V. Coslts of suit;

vi, Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;.

d) ON THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

i. Damages for unpaid overtime wages according to proof;

24
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€)

g)

h)

Prejudgment interest;
Reasonable attomeys’ fees;
Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper,

ON THE FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

1

Damages for unpaid additional pay owed for missed or noncompliant meal
periods in an amount according to proof;

Prejudgment interest;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just.and proper;

ON THE FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i

it.

iif.

.

Damages for unpaid additional pay owed for missed or noncompliant rest
periods in an amount according to proof;

Prejudgment interest;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

ON THE SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i

iii.

iv,

V.

vi.

Damages for unpaid compensation owed for rest and recovety periods and
other nonproductive time pursuant to Labor Code Section 220.2;
Liquidated damages;

Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable altorney’s fees;

Costs of suit;

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

ON THE SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i

Damages or penalties for not providing accurate wage statements in an

amount according to proof;

_25.
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)

An order requiring Defendants to comply with Labor Code Section 226(a);
Reasonable attorney’s fees;
Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

ON THE EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

ii.

iii

iv,

Damages or penalties for not maintaining required records in an amount
according (o prool}

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just'and proper.

ON THE NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Damages for unpaid wages earned prior to termination of employment in an
amount according to proof;

Waiting time penalties for failing to pay all earned wages timely upon
termination of employment in an amount according to proof;

Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable atlorney’s fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

¢
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k)  ONTHE TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
i Restitution of all unpaid wages and other monies owed and belonging to
Class Members that Defendants unlawfully withheld from them and retained
for themselves in an amount according to proof;

ii. Prejudgment interest;

iil. Reasonable attorney’s fees;

iv, Costs of suit; and

v. Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: July 16,2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, ArLC
By: /A
SAMUEL D./ALMON
Attorneys for Plaintiffs FRANK J. FODERA,
JR. and MICHAEL M. BONELLA,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs hereby demand trial by jury of all causes of action.

Dated: July 16,2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATLES, APLC

By: A T
SAMUEL’D. ALMON _
Attorneys for Plaintiffs FRANK J. FODERA,
JR, and MICHAEL M, BONELLA,
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated
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A AN
T EN0) AN
MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES APLC 0 () ) IJ",‘) 1{
Ronald W. Makarem, Esq. (SB#180442) A\

e e Boeviad. Sulty 2440 "CELED

11601 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite

Los Angeles, California 90025-1760 o5 ALAMEDA COLINTY

Phone: (310) 312-0299; Fax:(310} 312-02 KPR % 2019

Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA, JR,, CLERK }J}- |+t SUPERIOB-COURT
individually and on behalf of all others similarly By _ Oledtr =

situated " Denute

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA

FRANK 7. FODERA, JR,, individuallyand | CASENO.: G [901379 8
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR:

VS,

(1) Failure to Pay Al Wages Earned;

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., s Delaware (2) Failure to Pay Minimum Wage;

corporation; and DOES 1-50, iniclusive, (3) Fallure to Pay Overtime Wages;

(4) Fatlure To Provide Meal Perlods;

Defendants. (5) Failure To Provide Rest Periods;

(6) Failure To Pay for Rest and Recovery
Periods;

(7D Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage
Statements;

(8) Failure to Maintain Required
Records;

(9) Failare to Pay Earned Wages Upon
Termination; '

(10)Unfair Competition in Viclation of
Business and Professions Code Section
17200

(JURY TRIAL DEMANDED]

Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA (“Plaintiff"), individually-and on behalf of all similarly

situated individuals, hereby complains and alicges as follows:

ol
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INTRODUCTION

1. This case arises out of the failure of Defendants EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.
(“Equinox Holdings™) and Does 1-50 (together with Equinox Holdings, “Defendants”) (o pay all
wages owed to non-exempt employees, failure to pay all overtime hours eamed, failure to provide
compliant meal and rest periods, failure to provide accurate wage statements, failure to pay for
separate rest and recovery periods in connection with piece-rate work, failure to furnish accurate
wage statements, and failure to pay all wages owed at the time of termination, among other things.

2. Plaintiff and all other similarly situated individuals (collectively, the “Class™ or
“Class Members™) were employed by Defendants during the four years preceding the filing of this
action, and continued while this actidn was pending (the “Class Period”}, and were denied the
benefits and protections required under the California Labor Code and other statutes and
regulations applicable to employees in the State of California.

3. Plaintiff and Class Members allege that Defendants (1) failed to pay Plaintiff and
Class Members all wapges carned; (2) failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members required minimum
wages; (3) failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members required overtime wages; (4) failed to provide
Plaintiff and Class Members with compliant meal periods and failed to pay one hour of pay at Class
Members’ regular rate of compensation for each workday that a compliant meal period was not |
provided; (5) failed to authorize and permit compliant rest periods and failed to pay one hour of
pay at Plaintiff's and Class Members’ regular rate of compensalion for each workday that a
compliant rest period was not authorized and permitted; (6') failed to pay Plaintiff and Class
Members for rest and recovery periods separately from, and in addition to, their picce-rate pay for .
picce-rate work performed pursuant to Labor Code § 226.2; (7) failed o furnish Plaintiffand Class
Members with complete and accurate wape statements; (8) failed to maintain required records; (9)
failed to pay Class Members all earned wages after their employment ended in violation of Labor
Code §§ 201 and/or 202; and (10) violatéd California’s Unfair Business Practices Act, California
Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq.

2.
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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4.  Plaintiff and Class Members, pursuant to Business & Professions Code §§ 17200-

17208, also seek injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgement of all benefits Defendants enjoyed

from their failure to pay proper compensation.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure §
410.10. The action is brought pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 482 and Civil Code § 1781
et seq. Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf, and on behalf of all persons within the Class
as hereinafter defined.

6. Venue of this action in the County of Alameda is proper pursuant to Code of Civil
Procedure §§ 395(a) and 395.5, in that many of the wrongful acts complained of herein oceurred
in Alameda County, and Defendants are found, maintain offices in, and/or transact business in
Alameda County,

THE FARTIES

7. Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA, JR. (“Fodera”) is a resident of Los Angeles County,
California, and was employed by Defendants in Las Angeles County, California, as a non-exempt
employee within the last four years preceding the filing of this action, Fodera is employed by
Defendants as a group fitness instructor in California, and within the four last four years preceding
the filing of this action, Fodera was employed by Defendants as a personal trainer in California.

8.  Plaintiffis informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that EQUINOX HOLDINGS,
INC. is and at all times relevant hereto was a Delaware corporation doing business in Alameda
County, Califomia and 6ther counties in the State of California,

9. The true names and capacities of Defendants Does 1 through 30, inclusive, and each
of them, are unknown to Plaintiff, who sues said defendants by such ficlitious names; Plaintiff is
informed and believes and thercon ailege that each of the defendants fictitiously named herein is
legally responsible in some actionable manner for the events described herein, and thereby
proximately caused the damage to Plaintiff and the members of the Class. Plaintiff will seek leave

of Court to amend this Complaint to state the true name(s) and capacities of such fictitiously named

3.
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defendants when the same have been ascerlained,

10.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon ai]eges that at alj times relevant herein,
each defendant aided and abetted, and acted in concert with and/or conspired with each and every
other defendant to commit the acts complained of herein and to engage in a course of conduct and

the business practices complained of herein.

11. Defendants, including Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are now, and/or at al} times
mentioned in this Complaint were, the affiliates of some or all other Defendants, and vice-versa, and
in doing the thing alleged in this Complaint, Defendants were directly or indirectly controiling,
controlled by or under common control with such other Defendants,

12, Defendants, including Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are now, and/or at all times
mentioned in this Complaint were, the agents, servants and/or employees of some or all other
Defendants, and vice-versa, and in doing the things alleged in this Complaint, Defendants ar¢ now
and/or at all times mentioned in this Complaint were acting within the course and scope of that

agency, servitude and/or employment,

13. Defendants, inclnding Does 1 through 50, inclusive, are now, and/or at all times
mentioned in this Complaint were, members of, and/or engaged in, a joint venture, partnership and
common enterprise, and acting within the course and scope of, and in pursuance of said joint venture,

partnership and common enterprise. .
14. Defendants, including Does 1 through 50, inclusive, at all times mentioned in this

Complaint approved of, condoned and/or otherwise ratified each and every one of the acts and/or

omissions alleged in this Complaint.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

15, Thisis a class action pursuant to Section 382 of the California Code of Civil Procedure
to vindicate rights afforded to the class by Califarnia labor law. This action is brought on behalf of

Plaintiff and all similatly situated current and former employees who worked for Defendants as non-

4.
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exempt employees within the State of California within the four years preceding the filing of this
lawsuit.

16. On information and belief, Defendants are in ihc business of, among other things,
owning and operating luxury health clubs throughout California. According to Defendants’ website,
Defendants cusrently have approximately 30 locations in California, including in Alameda County,
and news outlets have reported on additional locations planned in San Francisco, Los Angeles, and
San Diego County.

17. Defendants employ group fitness instructors and'personal trainers at their health clubs,
including in Alameda County, as non-exempt employees.

18. During Plaintiff’s and Class Members' entire employment with Defendants, Plamuff
and Class Members were not exempt from the Employment Laws and Regulations, and Defendants
treated Plaintiff and Class Members as non-exempt employees. Plaintiff and Class Members
primarily engaged in non-exempt duties delegated to non-exempt employees such as, for example,
performing personal training sessions, teaching group fitness classes, cleaning and straightening up
the facilities during “floor shifis,” preparing client exercise programs, communicating with clientsl
outside of personal training sessions, and attending mandatory meetings and trainings.

19. During Plaintiff’s and Class Members' entire employment with Defendants, Plaintiff
and Class Members spent few to none of their working hours performing work which was primarily
intellectual, managerial or creative, or which required the regular and customary exercise of
discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance on more than an
occasional basis.

20.  On information and belief, Plaintiff and Class Members regularly worked more than
40 hours in a workweek and more than 8 hours in a workday. During their employment, Plaintiff
and Class Members suffered damages for the wage and hour violations committed by Defendants

described below,

21, During Plaintif®s and Class Members’ entite employment with Defendants,

Defendants’ policies provided that Plaintiff and Class Members were to be paid at an hourly rate for

-5 :
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time that they were clocked in while performing certain tasks, such as, for example, personal iraining
sessions, teaching group fitness classes, cleaning and straightening up the facilities during “floor

shifis” and attending mandatory meetings and trainings.

22, Defendants® policies also provided that Plaintiff and Class Members were to be paid
on a piece-rate basis for certain tasks, Under Defendants’ plece-rate compensation policies, Pla_i_ntiff‘
and Class Members were to be paid a fixed sum each time they completed a particular task, such as;
for example, performing a personal training session or teaching a group fitness class.

23,  Defendants also regularly suffered or pemiﬁcd Plaintiff and Class Members to
perform a wide range of unpaid, off-the-clock work. Some of this off-the-clock work consisted of
tasks which Defendants referred to as “session related activities.” “Session related activities”
included, for example, interacting wilh clients outside of personal training and group filness
sessions, oreating calendars, and preparing client programs. “Session related activities” included
tasks that were not directly related to performing a personal ﬁaining or group fitness session,

24, During Plaintiff's and Class Members’ entire employment with Defendants,
Defendants also regularly suffered or permitted Plaintiff and Class Members to perform other work
off the clock that was not designated “session related activities.” For example, Defendants regularly
required Plaintiff and Class Members, while not clocked in, to perform work including, without
limitation, manually scheduling work-related meetings, corresponding with supervisors, and
contacting prospective customers. Defendants did not pay Plaintiff or Class Members for time spent
performing off-the-clock work.

25.  Although Defendants suffered or permitied Plaintiff and Class Members to. work off
the clock, including, without limitation, by performing “session related activities” and other off-the-
clock work, Defendants neither compensated Plaintiff and Class Members for such work nor
counted those hours for purposes of calculating overtime.

26. Instead of paying Plaintiff and Class Members for each hour worked, Defendants'-
stated policy was to engage In wage averaging, whercby Defendants purported o determine whether

the piece-rate compensatibn paid, divided by the time spent performing the session plus the time

-6
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spent performing unpaid “session related activities”, resulted in an average hourly rate of at least
minimum wage.

27. In practice, Defendants discouraged and/or prohibited Plaintiff and Class Members
from recording all time they worked performing session rcla-ted activities and other off-the-clock
work., Consequently, Defendants’ records did not reflect all hours worked by Plaintiff and Class
Members. . '

28. During Plaintiff’s and Class Membcrs.’ entire employment with Defendants, under
Defendants® compensation policies, Plaintiff and Class Members were entitled to receive certain
non-discretionary bonuses if they met certain objective criteria. Defendants repeatedly failed to pay
earned non-discretionary bonuses when due.

29, Defendants also repeatedly failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members, among other
things, all piece-rate pay earned. For example, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Memberé
for all personal training sessions and group fitness classes performed in the applicable pay period.

30.. Defendants did not pay Plaintiff and Class Members all overtime compensation
camed. For example, Defendants did not consider Plaintiff's and Class Members’ off—theuclock'
work when calculating overtime wages, resulting in Plaintiff and Class Members not being paid all
overtime wages due. As another example, upon information and belief, in calculating overtime
wages, Defendants failed to consider all non-discretionary bonuses earned by Plaintiff and Class
Members, including, among other reasons, because Defendants failed to pay all earned non-
discretionary bonuses when due and failed to include them in Plaintiff’s and Class Members' pay
checks and wage statements. ’

11, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members minimum wage for all hours
worked, including uncompensated off-the-clock work which Defendants suffered or permitted
Plaintiff and Class Members to perform,

32, Defendants did not provide Plaintiff or Class Members with compliant and timely
thirty-minute meal periods. For example, Defendants regularly failed to provide meal periods until

after Plaintiff and Class Members had completed a work period of more than five hours. As another

-7~
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example, Plaintiff and Class Members were regularly required to take meal periods of less than 30
minutes in order to timely return to their job duties, such as, for example, to avoid being late for
their next fraining session, ‘

33, If an employer fails to provide an employee wnh compliant and timely thirty-minute
meal periods, the employer must pay the employee a premmm payment of one hour of pay at the
employee’s regu]ar rate of compensation for each workday that the meal period is not provided. Yet
Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members premium payments for each missed or non-
compliant meal period.

34. Defendants did not authorize or permit Plaintiff or Class Members to take cornpliant
and timely tén-minute rest periods. For example, Plaintiff and Class Members regularly worked
four hours or more continuously without a paid ten-minute rest break. As another example, Plaintiff
and Class Members regularly worked between two and four hours continuously without a paid ten-
minute rest break, on days in which they worked three and one-half hours or more.

35. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members premium payments for each
shift with a missed or non-compliant rest periods.

36.  Withrespect to work that Plaintiff and Class Members performed ona plece-rate basis,
Defendants failed to compensate Plaintiff and Class Members for rest and recovery periods separate
from any piece-rate compensation, and failed to calculate such compensation as required under
Labor Code § 226.2(a)(3). | \ |

17.  Asaresult of these violations, Defendants also failed 1o provide complete and accurate
wage statements, failed to maintain proper records, and failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members
all amounts owed upon termination of employment. Defendants also thereby violated California’s.
Unfair Business Practices Act, California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200.

38.  Plaintiff seeks attorneys’ fees pursuant to California Labor Code seciion 218.5 and

any other applicable sections.
39.  Plaintiff also seeks restitution and disgorgement of all sums wrongfully obtained by

Defendants through unfair business practices in violation of California Business & Professions Code

-8-
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section 17200, ef seq., to prevent the Defendants from benefiting from.their unlawful, fraudulent

and unfair acts. Such sums recovered under the Unfair Competition Act and Unfair Businesses Act
are equitable in nature and are not to be considered damages. Plaintiff is also entitled to costs,
attorneys’ fees, interest and penalties as provided for by the Labor Code, the Business & Professions

Code and Code of Civil Procedure §1021.5.
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

40, Plaintiff brings this action on behalfof himself and all other similarly sitvated persons

as a class action pursuant to Code of Civi! Procedure Section 382. The Classes Plaintiff seeks to

represent are composed of and defined as follows:

All current and former non-exempt employees employed by any
Defendant in California as personal traincrs, or in any other similar
capacily, at any time during the four-year period preceding the filing of

this action through the present.

All current and former non-exempt employees employed by any
Defendant in California as group fitness instructors, or in any other
similar capacity, at any time during the four-year period preceding the

filing of this action through the present.

41. ‘This action has been brought and may be maintained as a class action pursuant to Code
of Civil Procedure Section 382 because there is a well-defined community of interest among many
persons who comprise a readily ascertainable class.

42, Numerosity and Ascertainability (C.C.P, § 382): The potential number of Class
Members as defined is so numerous that joinder of all members would be infeasible and impractical.
The disposition of their claims through this class action will benefit both the parties and this Court.

The number of putative Class Members is unknown at this time, however, it is estimated that the

5.
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Class will number greater than 100. The identity of such membership can be readily ascertained
from Defendants’ employment records. |

43.  Superiority (C.C.P. § 382): The nature of this action and the nature of laws available
to Plaintiff make the use of the class action format particularly efficient and appropriate. By
establishing a technique whereby the claims of many individuals can be resolved at the same time;
the class suit both eliminates the possibility of repetitious litigation and provides small claimants
with a method of ob:ta'ming redress for claims which would otherwise be too small to warrant
individual litigation. Class action treatment will allow a large number of similarly situated persons
to prosecute their common claims in a single forum, simultaneously, efficiently, and without the
unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would require. Thé
actual monetary recovery due to most of the individual Class Members is likely to be small, and the
burden and expense of individual litigation would make it prohibitive for individual Class Members
to seek relief. A class action will serve an important public interest by permitting such individuals
lo effectively pursue recovery of the sums owed to them. Further, class litigation prevents the
potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments if individual Class Members were 1o litigate
separately. '

44.  ‘Well-defined Community of Interest: Plaintiff also meets the three factors for
establishing a community of interest: (1} predominant common questions of law or fact; (2) a class
representative with claims or defenscs typical of the class; and (3) a class representative who can
adequately represent the class, (see, e.g. Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Superior Court (2003) 29 Cal.4"‘
1096), as follows:

45. Predominant Questions of Law or Fact: There are common questions of law and/or
fact as to the members of the Class which predominate over questions affecting only individual
members of the Class, including, without limitation:

a. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 204 by not paying Class

Members for all wages earncd duting each pay period;

-10-
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. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 1194 by not paying Class,

Members the legal minimum wage for all hours worked;

Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Sections 510 and 1194 by not properly
paying overtime wages to Class Members for all hours worked in excess of eight
hours in one day, in excess of 40 hours in olne workweek, and in during the first
eight hours on the seventh day of work in one workweek, and by failing to pay
Class Members their overtime wages a the required double time rate for hours

worked in excess of 12 hours a day and in excess of eight hours on the seventh

day of a workweek;

. Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 512 by not providing Class

Members with compliant meal periods;

Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 512 by not authorizing and
permitting Class Members to take compliant rest periods;

Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Section 226.7 by not paying Class
Members additional pay for shifts when Class Members did not receive compliant

meal or rest periods;

_ Whether Defendants violated Labor code section 226.2 by not paying Class

mermbers separately for rest and recovery periods with respect to work performed
on a piece-rate basis, and by not properly calculating compensation for such rest

and recovery perlods;

. Whether Defendanis violaled Labor Code Section 226(a) by not providing Class

Members with accurate wage staiements;

Whether Defendants are liable for penalties for failure to maintain the records
required under Labor Code Sections 226 and 1174;

Whether Defendants violated Labor Code Sections 201 or 202 by not paying Class

Members all wages due upon fermination in a timely manner;

11-
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46,

Whether Class Members who are no longer ;Norking for Defendants are entitled to
waiting time penalties under Labor Code Section 203;

Whether Defendants’ conduct constituted unfair competition or an unlawful
business practice under Business and Professions Code Section 17200, ef seq.
Whether injunctive relief is appropriate to ensure Defendants’ compliance with
the Labor Code with respect to members of the Class currently working for
Defendants; '
Whether Class Members are entitled to altorneys’ fees;

Whether Class Members are entitled to pre-judgment interest;

Whether Class Members are entitled to restitution; and

Whether the fact each Class Member might be required to ultimately justify an
individual claim does or does not preclude maintenance of a class action. See

Collins v. Rocha (1972} 7 Cal.2d 232.

Typicality: The claims of Plaintiff are typical of the claims of all members of the

Class he seeks to represent because all members of the Class sustained injuries and damages arising

out of Defendants’ policies, practices, and common coirse of conduct in violation of law, and the

injuries and damages of all members of the Class were caused by Defendants’ wrongfullconduét in

said violation of law, as alleged herein.

47,

Adequacy: Plaintiff Frank J. Fodera, Jr.:

a,

b.

is an adequate representative of the Class he seeks to represent;

will fairly protect the interests of the members of the Class;

has no interests antagonistic to the members of the Class; and

will vigorously pursue this suit via attomneys who are competent, skilled and

experienced in litigating matters of this type.

.12~
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure te Pay All Wages Earned
(Against All Defendantg)

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

49. Al all relevant times, Plaintiff and other Class Members were employees covered by
Labor Code Section 204. .

50. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 204, Plaintiff and the other Class Members were
entitled to receive on regular paydays all wages earned for.the pay period corresponding to the
payday,

51, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and other Class Members for all wages earned each
pay period on the regular payday for the pay period. The earned and unpaid wages include, but are
not limited to, additional pay for missed mea) and rest periods, unpaid wages for piece-rate work,
wages for hours worked off the clock, and overtime wages. |

52. California law does not aliow an employer to avoid paying its employces for all hours
worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downlown
LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal. App. 4th 36, 40-41 (2013); Armenia v. Osmose, Inc., 135 Cal, App. 4tﬁ
314, 324 (2005).

53.  As aresult of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and other Class Members have

suffered damages in an amount according to proof at trial.
54.  Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 218, 218.5 and 218.6, Plaintiff and other Class
Members are entitled to recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment interest,

reasonable attorney's fees and costs of suit.

13-
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay Minimum Wage
(Against All Defendands)

55.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out-above in the preceding paragraphs.

56. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and other Class Members were employees covered by
Labor Code section 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

57.  Pursvant to Labor Code Section 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order,
Plaintiff and Class Members were entitled to minimum wage for all hours worked.

58.  Plaintiff is informed and believe and thereon allege that at all relevant times within
the applicable Class Period, Defendants failed to- pay Plaintiff and Class Members their earned
wages for all hours worked in accordance with Labor Code Section 1194 and the applicable
Industrial Wage Order, For example, Defendants regularly required Plaintiff and Class Members to
work off the clock.

50 As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and Class Members have
suffercd damages In an amount, subject to proof, to the extent that they were not paid for all hours

worked.

60.  California law does not allow an employer to avoid paying its employees for all homé
worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downtown
LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal. App. 4th 36, .40-41 (2013); Armenta v. Osmose, Inc., 135 Cal. App. 4th
114, 324 (2005).

61. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194, Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to
recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and

costs of suit.

62. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194.2, Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to

recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thercon.

-14-
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Pay Overtime Wages
(Against All Defendants)

63. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein ail the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

64. At all refevant times, Plaintiff and the other Class Members were employeés covered
by Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order,

65. Pursuant to Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable Industriat Wage Order,
Plaintiff and the other Class Members were entitled to overtime wages payable at the rate of at least
one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all work in excess of eight hours in one workday,
in excess of forty hours in one workweek, or during the first eight hours worked on the seventh day
of one workweek, and payable at the rate of at least twice tEe regular rate of pay for all work in
excess of twelve hours in one workday or in excess of eight hours worked on the seventh day of one
workweek, ‘

66, Defendarit failed to pay Plaintiff and the other Class Members for all overtime worked
in accordance with Labor Code Sections 510, 1194 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.
Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon allege that at all relevant times within the applicable
class period, Defendants maintained and continue to maintain a policy or practice of requiring
Plaintiff and other Class Members to perform various duties off the clock without compensating
them for all their hours actually worked, including time in excess of eight hours in a day, in excess
of forty hours in a workweck, and/or time worked on the seventh day of work in one workweek.

67.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon allege that at all relevant times within
the applicable class period, Defendants maintained and continue to maintain a policy or practice of
undercalculating Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ regular rate of pay, including by failing to include
all earned nondiscretionary bonuses in Plaintiff’s and Class Members® regular rate of pay.

68.  California law does not allow an employer to avoid paying its employees for all hours

worked by averaging total compensation over total hours worked. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Downtown

-15- :
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LA Motors, LP, 215 Cal. App. 4th 36, 40-41 (2013); Armenta v. Osmose, Inc., 135 Cal. App. 4th

314, 324 (2005),
69. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and other Class Members have

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof; to the extent they were not paid for all overtime

wages eamed.

70, Pursuant to Labor Code Scetion 1194, Plaintiff and other Class Members are entitled
to recover the full amount of their unpaid overtime wages, prejudgment interest, reasonable

attorney’s fees and costs of suit,
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Faifure to Provide Meal Periods
(Against All Defendants)

71.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein afl the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

72.  Atall relevant times, Plaintiff and Class Membeérs were employees covered by Labor
Code Sections 226.7 and 512, and the applicable Industrial Wage Order. |

73, Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide that
tio employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal
period of not less than 30 minutes,

74. Labor Code § 226.7 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide that if an
employer fails to provide an employee with a meal period in accordance with this section, the
employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation
for each five (5) hours of work that the meal period is not provided.

75.  During the Class Period, Defendants have routinely failed to provide the Class
Members, including Plaintiff, with compliant meal periods prior to the end of the employees’ fifth
hour of work, and have failed to compensate Class Members, including Plaintiff, for those non-
compliant meal periods, as required by California Labor Code § 226.7 and other applicable sections

of the Employment Laws and Regulations.

-16-
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76.  No Class Members, including Plaintiff, are exempt from the meal period requirements

of the Employment Laws and Regulations.
77.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and Class Members have
suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid additional pay for

meal period violations.

FIFTH CAUSE, OF ACTION

For Failure to Provide Rest Periods
(Against All Defendants)

78, Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

79. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and Class Members were employees covered by Labor
Code Sections 226.7 and 512, and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

80. Labor Code Sections 226.7 and 512 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order provide
that employers shall authorize and permit employees 1o take rest periods at the rate of ten {10}
minutes net rest time per four (4) hours of work or major fraction thereof.

81. Labor Code Section 226.7 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order further prowde
that if an employer fails to provide an employee rest periods in aceordance with this law, the
employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation
for each workday that lhe rest period is not authorized and permitted.

82. During the Class Period, Defendants have routinely failed to authorize and permit the
Class Members, including Plainiiff, to take rest periods dming their work shifts, and have failed to
compensate Class Members, including Plaintiff, for those non-compliant rest periods, as required
by California Labor Code Section 226.7 and other applicable sections of the Employment Laws and

Reguiations.

3. No Class Members, including Plaintiff, are exempt from the rest period requiremcnté-

of the Employment Laws and Regulations.

-17-
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84. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduet, Plaintiff and Class Members have
suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, to the extent they were not paid additional pay for

rest period violations.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
For Failure to Pay for Rest and Recovery Periods
| (Against All Defendants)

85. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and rcaile'ges as if fully stated herein all the
allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs,

86. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and Class Members were employees covered by Labor
Code Section 226.2 and the applicable Industrial Wage Order.

87 Labor Code Section 226.2 provides that employees shall be compensated for rest and
recovery periods and other nonproductive time separéta from any piece-rate compensation, |

88. Labor Code Section 226.2 further provides that employees shall be compensated for
rest and recovery periods at a regular hourly rate that is no less than the higher of; (i) an average
hourly rate determined by dividing the lotal compensation for the workweek, exclusive of
corpensation for rest and recovery periods and any premium compensation for overtime, by the
total hours worked during the workweek, exclusive of rest and recovery periods, or (ii) the applicable
minimum wage.

89.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thercon allege that at all relevant times within
the applicable Class Period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members for rest and
recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from any piece-rate compensation.

90. Plaintiff is further informed and belicves and thercon allege that at all relevant times
within the applicabie Class Period, Defendants failed to properly calculate the regular hourly rate of
compensation for rest and recovery periods and other nonproductive time,

91.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and Class Members havq

suffered damages in an amount, subject to proof, 1o the extent that they were not paid all

18-
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compensation owed for rest and recovery periods and other nonproductive time separate from any

piece-rate compensation
92. TPursuant to Labor Code Section 1194, Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to

recover the full amount of their unpaid wages, prejudgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and

costs of suit.
93. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1194.2, Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to
recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to ihe wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Furnish Accurate Wage Statements
(Against All Defendants)
94,  Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realléges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs,

95. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and other Class Members were employees of

Defendants covered by Labor Code Section 226.
96. California Labor Code Section 226(a) provides that:

An employer, semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages,
shall furnish to his or her employee, either as a detachable part of the
check, draft, or voucher paying the employee’s wages, or separately if
wages are paid by personal check or cash, an accurate itemized
statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours
worked by the employee, except as provided in subdivision (), (3) the
number of piece-rate units eamed and any a plicable piece rate if the
employee is paid on a piece-rate basis, (4) aFl deductions, provided that
all deductions made on written orders of the employee may be
aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net wages earned, (6) the
inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, (7) the
name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or her social
security number or an employee identification number other than a
social securily number, (8) the name and address of the legal entity
that s the employer and, if the employer is a farm labor contractor, as
defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1682, the name and address of
the legal entity that secured the services of the employer, and (9) all
applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the
corresponding number of hours worked at cach hourly rate by the
employee and, beginning July 1, 2013, if the employer is a temporary
services employer as defined in Section 201.3, the rate of pay and the
total hours worked for each temporary services assignment.

-19-
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97.  Further, the relevant wage orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission applicable to
Plaintifs and Class Members’ employment with Defendants require employers 1o majntain
accurate information regarding, among other items, “[ilime records showing when the employee
begins and ends each work period. Meal periods, split shift intervals and total daily hours worked.
shall also be recorded. Meal periods during which operations cease and authorized rest periods need
not be recorded.”

98. At all material times. set forth herein, Defendants either recklessly or intentionally
failed to make, keep and preserve true, accurate records of, among other things, the actual number
of hours worked each workday and workweek by Plaintiff and Class Members, when Plaintiff and
Class Members took required meal and rest periods, meal and rest period premiums that were owed
to Plaintiff and Class Members, and the number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable biece
rate.

99.  As a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and Class Members are each,
entitled to recover from Defendants the greater of their actual monetary damages caused by ;
Defendants’ failure to comply with California Labor Code section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty.
not exceeding four thousand dollars ($4,000) per employee, at a rate of $50 per pay period with
incomplete or inaccurate wage statement, and an award of costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees

pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(e).

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For Failure to Maintain Required Records [CaL Labor Code §§ 226, 1174]
(Against All Defendants)
100. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the.
aIlegaﬁons set out above in the preceding paragraphs. | |
101. During the Class Period, as part of Defendants® illegal payroll policies and practices
intended to deprive Plaintiff and Class Members of all wages earned and due, Defendants knowingly
and intentionally failed to maintain records as required under California Labor Code sections 226

and 1174, and the applicable Industiial Wage Order, including but not limited to the following.
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records: all hours worked by Plaintiff and other Class Members; all piece-rate compensalion duc to
Plaintiff and other Class Members; all compensation for rest and recovery periods and other
nonproductive time separate from any piece-rate compensation due to Plaintiff and other Class

Members; all bonuses due to Plaintiff and other Class Members; meal periods; rest periods; and

accurate itemized wage statements.

102, As a proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful actions and omissions, Plaintiff and

other Class Members have been damaged in an amount aceording to proof at trial, and are entitled

to all wages earned and due, plus interest thereon. Additionally, Plaintiff and other Class Members -

are entitled to all avajlable statutory penalties, including but not limited to civil penalties pursuant

to California Labor Code sections 226(e), 226.3, and 1174.5, and an award of attorneys' fees, and

expenses and costs of suit, including but not limited to those provided by California Labor Code -

section 226(e) as well as other available remedies.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Failure to Pay Wages Earned At Termination Or Discharge [Labor Code §§ 201,202]
(Against All Defendants)
103. Plaintiff incotporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

104. At all relevant times, Class Members who quit, were discharged, or terminated

(collectively referred to as “Terminated” or “Termination”) from employment with Defendants are

and were covered by Labor Code sections 201 and/or 202,

105. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 201 and 202, Class Members were entitled to receive,

upon termination, ail wages eamed and unpaid at the time of termination. If an employee is

discharged, all wages earned and unpaid are due and payable immediately upon discharge. If an

employee quits his or her employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than
72 hours thereafter, unless the employee has given 72 hours previous notice of his or her intention

to quit, in which case the employee is entitled to his or her wages at the time of quifting,

-21- ‘
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j06. Defendants failed to pay Terminated Class Membets all wages earned and unpaid at |
the time of Termination timely in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202, Their earned
and unpaid wages al the time of Termination include, but are not limited to, hours worked off the
clock, hours worked overtime, additional pay for missed or non-compliant meal and rest periods,
unpaid piece-rate compensation due, unpaid compensation for rest and recovery periods and other
nonproductive time separate from any piece-rate compensation due Terminated Class Members, and"
unpaid bonuses.

107. Defendants’ failure to pay Terminated Class Members all wages earned prior to
Termination in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202 was willful. Defendants had the
ability to pay all wages eamed by emplayees prior ta Termination in accordance with Labor Code_
sections 201 and 202, but intentionally followed a practice or adopted a policy that violated Labor
Code sections 201 and 202,

108. Pursuant to Labor Codé sections 201 and 202, Terminated Class Members are entitled
to all wages earned prior to Termination that Defendants f‘ailed to pay them.

109. California Labor Code section 203 provides that if an employer willfully fails to pay,’
without abatement or reduction, in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202, any wages
of the employee shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until pald or
until an action therefore is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days.

110. Therefore, Terminated Class Members are entitled to recover from Defendants the
statutory penalty for each day they were not paid, at their regular rate of pay — not to exceed 30 days.
— pursuant to California Labor Code section 203.

111, Pursuant to Labor Code sections 218 and 218.5, Terminated Class Members are
entitled to recover their unpaid wages, waiting time penalties under Labor Code section 203,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit. Pursuant to Labor Code section 218.6 and/or Civil Code.

section 3287(a), Terminated Class Members are entitled to recover prejudgment interest.

22-
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TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Unfair Competition [Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, ef seq.]
(Against All Defendants)
112, Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges as if fully stated herein all the

allegations set out above in the preceding paragraphs.

113. Defendanis are “persons” as that term is defined under Business & Professions Code

section 17021. Business & Professions Code section 17200 definies unfair competition as any

unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practice.

114. Defendants’ violation of the Employment Laws and Repgulations as alleged in this

Complaint, including Defendants’ (a) failure to provide complaint meal periods or authorize and

permit compliant rest periods; and (b) failure to pay all earned wages upon termination, constitute

unfair business practices in violation of Business & Professions Code §§ 17200 ef seq.
115. As a result of Defendants’ unfair business practices, Defendants have reaped unfair
benefits and illegal profits at the expense of Class Members, and to the detriment of members of the

public, Defendants should be made to disgorge their ill-gotten gains and restore them to Plaintiff

and other Class Members. Pursuant to Business & Professions Code section 17203, Plaintiff and’

other Class Members are entitled to restitution of the wages and other monies withheld, deducted,
and/or retained by Defendants during a period that commences four years prior to the filing of this
action.

116. Pursuant to Business & Professions Code sectioﬁ 17203, Defendants’ unfair business
practices entitle Plaintiff to seek preliminary and permanent injunctive relief including, but not
limited to, orders that Defendants account for, disgorge, and restore to Plaintiff and other Class
Members all compensation unlawfully withheld from them.

117. Plaintiff and other Class Members are entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees in
connection with their unfair competition claims pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5,

the substantial benefit doctrine, and/or the common fund doctrine.

3.
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PRAYER FOR RELITF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all Class Members, prays for

judgment in his favor and against Defendants as follows:

a,) CLASS CERTIFICATION

i.

il.

il

An order that the action be certified as a class action;
An order that Plaintiff be certified as the representative of the Class;

An order that counsel for Plaintiff be confirmed as Class Counsel;

b) ON THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

1,

il

il

iv.

V.

Damages for unpaid wages earned but not paid each pay period in an amount
according to proof;

Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Costs of suit;

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

c) ON THE SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

i

il

iii.

iv,

V.

vi,

Damages for unpaid minimum wages according to proof;
Liquidated damages;

Prejudgment interest,

Reasonable attormey’s fees;

Costs of suit;

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

d) ON THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

1.

ii.,

iii.

v,

V.

Damages for unpaid overtime wages according to proof
Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable attorneys’ fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

224-
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g}

h)

ON THE FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

1.

i,

il

iv,

Damages for unpaid additional pay owed for missed or noncompliant meal
periods in an amount according to proof;,

Prejudgment interest;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

ON THE FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i

Damages for unpaid additional pay owed for missed or noncompliant rest
periods in an amount according to proof;
Prejudgment interest;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

ON THE SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

1.

vi,

Damages for unpaid compensation owed for rest and recovery periods and
other nonproductive time pursuant to Labor Code Section 226.2;
Liquidated damages;

Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Costs of suit;

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper;

ON THE SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i.

il

iil.

iv,

Damages or penalties for not providing accurate wage statements in an
amount according to proof;

An order requiring Defendants to comply with Labor Code Section 226(a);
Reasonable atlorney's fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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i)

k)

ON THE EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i

it

i

iv.

Damages or penalties for not maintaining required records in an amount
according to proof;

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

ON THE NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

i,

iil.

iv.

v,

vi.

Damages for unpaid wages eamed prior to termination of employment in an
amount according to proof; |

Waiting time penalties for failing to pay all earned wages timely upon
termination of employment in an amount according to proof;

Prejudgment interest;

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Coslis of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

ON THE TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

1.

iii.

iv.

Restitution of all unpaid wages and other monies owed and belonging to

Class Members that Defendants untawfully withheld from them and retained

for thernselves in an amount according to proof;
Prejudgment interest,;

Reasonable attorney’s fees;

Costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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Dated: April 3, 2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, APLC

/-

SAMUEL [}/ ALMON

Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J, FODERA,
JR., individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs hereby demand trial by jury of all causes of action.

Dated; April 3,2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, APLC

By: N
SAMUEL DY ALMON
Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J, FODERA,
JR., individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse

Fodera No. RGi9013798
Pluioti [I/Peritioner(s)

Vs, Case Management Order

Date: 06/05/2019

Time; 09:01 AM

Dept: 21
DefendantRespondent(s) Judge: Winifred Y. Smith

(Abbreviated Title)

Equinox Holdings, [ne.

ORDER rc: CASE MANAGEMENT

The Court has ordered the following after review of the case, including timely filed Case Management
Statements, withoul a conference,

FURTHER CONFERENCE
A further Case Management Conference is scheduled for 08/01/2019 at 09:00 AM in Dept. 21

a Joint Case Management Statement, in narrative-form, must be filed no later thian 07/25/2019, If the
foregoing datc is a court holiday or a weekend, the time is extended to the next business day.

NOTICES

The Court orders counsel and/or self-represented parties to obtain a copy of this order from the court's
website Dttpi/fwwav.alameda.courts,ca.gov/idomainveb.

Any delay in the trial, caused by non-compliance with any order contained heroin, shall be the subject of
sanclions pursuant to CCP 177.5,

Faremdi

Dated: 06/05/2019 W?M,«u

Judge Winifred Y, Smith
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse

Fodera No. RG19013798
PlaintiM/Pelitioner(s)
V8, Minutes
Equinox Holdings, Inc.
Defendnnt/Respondent(s)
(Abbreviated Title)

Department 21 Honorable. Winifred ¥, Smith , Judge

Canse called for Case Management Conference on June 03, 2019.

Plaintiff Frank J. Fodera Jr. not appearing.
Defendant Equinox Holdings, Inc. not appeanng.

ORDER re; CASE MANAGEMENT

The Court has ordered the following after review of the case, including timely filed Case Management
Statements, without a conference,

FURTHER CONFERENCE
A further Case Management Conference is scheduled for 08/01/2019 at 09:00 AM in Dept. 21.

a Joint Casc Management Statement, in narrative-form, mus! be filed no later than 07/25/2019. Tf the
foregoing date is a court holiday or a weekend, the {ime i3 extended to the next business day.

NOTICES

The Court orders counscl andfor self-represented parties to obtain a copy of thiis order from the coun's
website http://wwv.alameda courts,ca.gov/domainweb.

Minutes of  06/05/2019
Entercd on  06/05/2019

Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Courl

ohin

v 0w

Deputy Clerk

Minutes
M 13030261
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" e

AW, Mkarem: Bsq, (356150442) - ~
ona , Makarem, 5iq. : LAMEDA COUNTY

Samuel D, Almon (SB# 243569) . A ' E o |
11601 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2440 ! BT 2019 :

Los Angeles, California 90025-1760 k
Phone: (310) 312-0299; Fax;(310) 312-0296

GLEHK?RWEHIOH COURT ,
Attorneys for Pleintiff FRANK J, FODERA, JR., By.— 0\: . DEPUY -

individualy and on behalf of all others similarly .
situated o

——
—_—

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNI A
FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA

FRANK ], FODERA, JR., individually and | Case No.; RG19013798
on behalf of ail others similarly situated,
Hon, Winifred Y. Smith

Plaintiff, Dept: 21

PLAINTIFF'S EX PARTE APPLICATION
EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO SERYE

corporation; and DOES 1-30, inclusive, COMPLAINT; DECLARATION OF
SAMUEL D. ALMON; PROPOSED ORDER

Y§.

Defendants.
Complaint filed: April 3,2019

[No appearance required, CRC 3.1207(2)]

I~
Plalntifl's Ex Parte Application For Exicnsion Of Time To Serve Camplaimt
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TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that in Depariment 21 of the Superior Court of the State of

California for the County of Alameda, located at Administration Building, Fourth Floor, 122]
Oak Street, Oakland, California 94612, Plaintiff Frank J. Foders, Jr. respectfully will and hereby
does apply ex parte for the relief set forth below.

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 3.1207(2), no appearanco is required in
connection with this ex parfe application.

RELIEF REQUESTED
Plaintiff respectfully requests an order extending thme for service of the complaint by 45

days.
DISCUSSION
Plaintiff filed his complaint in this wage and hour class action on April 3,2019. Service
of the complaint Is presently required to be completed by Monday, June 3, 2019, There have
been no previous requests for extension of time to serve the complaint.
Plaintiff requests an extension of 45 days to serve the eomplaint on Defendant Equinox
Holdings, Inc. If this extension is granted, service would be completed by Thursday, July 18,

2019.
NOTICE

Notice of this ex parta application was not glven because Defendants have not yet been
served with process and have not appeared in this action. A copy.of this application will be
served on Defendants at the time of service of the Complaint,

m
)
n
"
I
i

2-
Plaintiil's Ex Porta Application For Extension Of Fime To Serve Complaint
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CONCLUSION

Faor the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court extend the time to
serve the complaint by 45 days, through Thursday, July 18, 2019. A Proposed Order Is attached

hereto as Exhibit A.

Dated: May 30, 2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, APLC

[—

SAMUELD. ALMON

Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J, FODERA,
JR., individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated

By:

3-
Plaintlfl's Ex Parte Application For Extension Of Time To Serve Complaint
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DECLARATIGN OF SAMUREL D. ALMON
1, Samue! D, Almon, declare and state as follows:

1, 1am anatiomey duly licensed to practice law in all of the courts of the State of
California. [ am an assoclate at Makarem & Associates APLC, which represents Plaintiff in this
litigation, I am one of the attorneys handling this case, and have personal knowiedge of the facts
set forth herein, except where indicated otherwise, I£ calied upon to do 50, I could and would

testify competently herelo.
2. The complaint in this action was filed on April 3, 2019,

3. Ihave calulated that the current 60-day time period for service of the complaint

runs through Monday, June 3, 2019.
4. Plaintiff has not previously requested an extension of time to serve the compleint.

5. Beeause Defendants have not yet been served with process and have not appeared in
{his action, Plaintiff did not give notice of this ex parte application. Plaintiff will serve Defendants

with & copy of this application at the time of service of the Complaint.

1 declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of California that the foregoing is true and

correct. Executed on May 30, 2019 ot Los Angeles, California,

Dated: May 30, 2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES APLC

By:

amuel D. Almon

Attorneys for Plaintiff

4
Plalntiff's £ Parte Application For Extension OFf Time To Serve Complaint
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. EXHIBIT A
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Exhibit A

-§- ‘
PlaintifT's Ex Parte Applicalon For Extension OF Time To Serve Complaint
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Having considered Plointiff’s Ex Parte Application for Extension of Time to Serve
Complaint, the Court rules as follows:
[ b]'ﬁc application for an order extending the time to serve Plaintiff’s complaint is

GRANTED, The complaint must be served no later than July 18, 2019,
[ ] Additionally, the Ctﬂvles as follows:

N
N

N
N

1T IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: g 2019 g . Q(YLA:(‘(
onorable Wiifred Smith |

Judge of the Supcrior Cou

-5-
[Proposed Order Extending Time fo Sorve Complaint
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MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES ArLC

Ronald W. Makarsm, Esq. (SB#180442)

Samuel D, Almon (SB# 243569)
11601 Wilshire Boulevard, Suitc 2440
Los Angeles, California 90025-1760

Phone: (310) 312-0299; Fax:(31 0) 3120296

Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA, IR,
jndividually and on behalf of all others similarly

situated

By OFTH}I e .t

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALITORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA

"FRANK J. FODERA, JR., individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintift,
Vs,

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware
corporation; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.: RG19013758

Hon, Winifred Y. Smith
Dept.: 21

PLAINTIFF’S EX PARTE APPLICATION
FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO SERVE
COMPLAINT; DECLARATION OF
SAMUEL D, ALMON; PROPOSED ORDER
Complalnt filed: April 3, 2019

[No appearance required. CRC 3.1207(2))

-1-

Flalntlf's Ex Parte Application For Exienslon OF Tima To Serve Compluin
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TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that in Department 21 of the Superior Court of the State of

Cakifornia for the County of Alameda, located at Administration Building, Fourth Floor, 1221
Oak Street, Oakland, California 94612, Plaintiff Frank J, Fodera, Jr. respectfully will and hereby

does apply ex parte for the relief set forth below.
Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 3,1207(2), no appearance is required in

connection with this ex parte application.

RELIEF REQUESTED

Plaintiff respectfully requests an order extending time for service of the complaint by 45

days,
DISCUSSION

Plaintiff filed his comp!aint in this wage and hour class action on April 3, 2019. Service
of the complaint is presently required to be completed by Monday, June 3, 2019. There have
been no previous requests for extension of time to serve the complaint.

Plaintiff requests an extension of 45 days to serve the complaint on Defendant Equinox
Holdings, Inc. If this extension is granted, service would be completed by Thursday, July 18,
2019,

NOTICE

Notice of this ex parfe application was not given because Defendants have not yet been
served with process and have nol appeared in this action, A copy of this application will be
served on Defendants at the time of service of the Complaint,

1
it
"
i
i
n
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Plalntif"s Ex Parte Appilcation For Extension Of Tme To Serve Complaint
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court extend the time {0

serve the complaint by 45 days, through Thursday, July 18, 2019, A Proposed Order is atiached

hereto as Exhibit A.

Dated: May 30, 2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, APLC

SAMUELD. ALMON

Attomeys for Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA,
JR., individuatly and on behalf of all others
similarly situated

-3-
Plaintiff's Ex Parte Application For Extension OF Time To Scrve Complaint
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DECLARATION OF SAMUEL D. ALMON

[, Samuel D. Almor, declare and state as follows:

1. Iam an attorney duly licensed to practice law in all of the cousts of the State of
California. I am an associate at Makarem & Associates APLCL which represents Plaintiff in this
litigation, I am one of the attorneys handling this case, and have personal knowledge of the facts
set forth herein, except where indicated otherwisa. If called upon to do so, 1 could and-would
testify competently herelo.

2. The complaint in this actlon was filed on April 3, 2019,

3. [ have calculated ihat the current 60-day time pertod for service of the complaint

runs through Monday, June 3, 20185.

4.  Plaintiff has not previously requested an extension of time to serve the complaint.
5 Because Defendants have not yet been served with process and have not appeared in
this action, Plaintiff did not give notice of this ex parte application. Plaintiff will serve Defendants

with a copy of this application at the time of service of the Complaint,

1 declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of California that the foregoing is true and

correct. Executed on May 30, 2019 at Los Angeles, California.

Dated: May 30, 2019 MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES APLC

By:

amuel D, Almon

Attomeys for Plaintiff

-4-
Plalntiff's Ex Parte Application For Extension Of Timo To Serve Complaint
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Exhibit A

-5-
Plaintiff's £x Parfe Applicution For Extension OF Time To Serve Complaint
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PROPOSED| ORDER

Having considered Plaintiff's Ex Parte Application for Extension of Time to Serve
Complaint, the Court rules as follows:

[ ] The application for an order extending the time to serve Plaintiff’s complaint is
GRANTED, The complaint must be served no later than July 18, 2019,

[ ] Additionally, the Court rules as follows:

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: , 2019

Honorable Winired Smith
Judge of the Superior Court

-6-
[Proposed( Order Extending Time to Serve Complaint
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AREM & ASSOCIATES APLC

Ronald W, Makarem, Esd. (SB#IBOMZ)

Samuel D, Almon (SB# 243569)
11601 Wilshire Bouleyard, Suite 2440
Los Angeles, Callfornia 90025-1760

Phone: (310) 312-0299; Fax: (310) 3120296 U o
Atiorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J, FODERA, JR,, e e oiF "
individually and on bohalf of all others similarly e of T s LY
situated o

ey Y

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNYA
FOR THE COUNTY OT ALAMEDA

FRANK J, FODERA, JR., individually and
on behalf of ail others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
A

BQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC,, a Delaware
corporation; and DOES 1-50, Inclusive,

Defendants,

CASE NO.; RG19013798

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLEX CASE
MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE
STATEMENT; PROPOSED ORDER

Date;  June 5, 2019
Time: 901 arm,
Dept:: 21

FILE BY
FAX

Plaintiff FRANK J, FODERA, JR. (“Plaintiff") respootfully submits the following

Complex Case Management Conference Statoment:
PARTIES AND COUNS
Plaintlf Frank J, Fodera, Jr, is represented by Ronald W. Makarem and Sarnuel D, Almon

of Makarem & Assoolntes in Los Angeles, Defendant Egulnox Holdings, Inc. ("Equinox”) hes

not yet been served end no counsel have appearéd on behalf of Equinex.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff filed his complaint In this wage and hour class ection on April 3, 2019, esserting

violutions of n number of Labor Code provlsions as well gs a claim for unfair competition under

1.

Plalitlff*s Complex Case Managemont Conlerenee Statement
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Business & Professlons Code Section 17200. Plaintiff has demanded a Jury trial, On May 10,

2019, the Court determined this action to be complex.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff is suing Equinox on behalf of himself and those similarly situated for (1) Failure
to Pay All Wages Eamned; (2) Failure to Pay Minimum Wage; (3) Failure to Pay QOvertime
Wages; (4) Failure To Provide Meal Periods; {5) Failure To Provide Rest Periods; (6) Failure To
Pay for Rest and Recovery Periods; (7) Failure to Furnish Accurate Wege Statements; (8) Failure
to Maintain Required Records; (9) Failure to Pay Eamed Wages Upon Termination; end (10)
Unfair Competition in Violation of Business and Professions Code Section 17200

Within the four years preceding the filing of the complaint, Plaintiff was employed by
Equinox in California as a group fitness instructor and as a pefsonal trainer, He alleges that
Equinox, among other things, suffered or permitted him and other putative class members 0
perform off-the-clock work without pay, failed to pay Plaintiff and other putative class members
all non-discretionary bonuses and piece-rate pay earned, failed to properly calculate and pay all
overlime compensation eamed, failed to provide compliant meal and rest perlods, with respect to
work performed on o piecc-rate basis, failed to compensate Plaintiff and putative class members
for rest and recovery perlods separate from any piece-rate compensation, and committed a variety
of other Labor Code violations.

DISCOVERY

Due to the early posture of this case, discovery has not yel commenced and no discovery
issues are known at this time,
i
1
i
i
i
it

2-

Plaintiff's Complex Gase Managemont Conference Statement
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REQUEST TO CONTINUE CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE

Because Equinox has not yet been served

and no defense counsel has entered an

appearance, Plaintiff is requesting that the Court continue the Case Management Conference by

60 days. A Proposed Order continuing the Case Management Conference by 60 days is attached

hereto as Bxhibit A.

Dated: May 29, 2019

By:

MAKAREM & ASSOCIATES, ArLC

/-

SAMUEL DALMON

Attorneys for Plaintiff FRANK J. FODERA,
JR., individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated

-3

PlaintifP's Complex Case Management Conference Statement
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Exhibit A

-4
Plalntifl's Complex Case Managoment Conference Statement
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[PROPOSED] ORDER
1T 1S SO ORDERED that the Case Meanagement Confefence currently scheduled for June 3,

2019 at 9;01 a.m. is hereby comtinued to , 2019 at .
Dated: , 2019
Honorable Winifred Smith
Tudge of the Superior Court
5e

[Proposed{ Crder Contlnuing Case Munagamént Conference
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Makarem & Associates #
Atm: Almon Esq, Samuel D. 4 wy
11601 Wilshire Blvd, % 0
Ste 2440 " Uy
Los Angeles, CA 90025 ¢
“Superior Court of California, County of Alameda Vos
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse
Fadora Mo, RG190137598
Plaint(7Petitloner(s)
Order
Vs, .
Complaint - Other Employment
Equinox Holdings, Inc. ) L ‘
. ' DefendmU/R espordent(s}
(Abbrevinted [Tlle)

o rei
o e s P

The Complox Determination Hearing was set for hearing on 05/10/2019 at 09:00 AM in Depariment 21
before the Honorable Winifred Y, Smith, The Tentative Ruling was published and has net been
contested.

IT IS HEREBY QRDERED THAT:
The tentative ruling is affirmed as follows: COMPLEX DETERMINATION

The Court designates this case as complex pursuant to Rule 3.400 ct seq. of the California Rules of
Court. Counsel arc advised to be familiar with the Alameda County Local Rules concerning complex
litigation, including Rule 3,250 et seq. An order assigning the case to onc of the threa complex judges
ang an jnitial case management order will be issued.

COMPLEX CASE FEES . :

Pursuant to Government Code scetion 70616, any non-cxempt party who has appeared in the action but
has hot paid the complex case fee is required to Igay the fee within ten days of the filing of this order,
The comRIex caso feo is $1,000 for each plalntiff or group of plaintlffs appearing together and §1,000
PER PARTY for each defendant; intervenor, respondent or other adversa party, whether filing
separately or jointly, up to # maximum of $18,000 for all-ndverse partics, All payments must identify
on whose behalf the fee Is submitted. Pleaso submit payment to the attention of the Complex Litigation
Clerk located in the Civil Division at-the Rene C, Davidson Courthouse, 1223 Fallon Street, Cakland,
CA 94612, Pleaso make check(s) paﬁaoléle to the Clerk of tho Suporior Court, Dosuments may
continue to bo filed as allowed undor Local Rulo 1.9. Noto that for those admitted pro hae vice, there is
also an annual fee. (Gov't Code section 70617.) )

PROCEDURES

Calendar information, filings, and tentative rulings are available to the public at

http://www.alameda,courts,ca.gov/domainweb/, ~ All counsel ave expeoted to be familiar and to comply

with perlinent provislons of the Codo of Clvil Procedure, the California Rules of Court, thie Alameda

Eounty Sutpenor Court Local Rules and the procedurcs outlined on the domain web page of the assigned
epartment.

SERVICE OF THIS ORDER

Order
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Counsel for plaintifi{s) shall have a continuing obtigation to sorve a copy of this order on newly joined
arties defendamt not listed on the proof of service of this order and file proof of service. Each party
defendant joining any third party ross-defendant shall have a continuing duty to serve a copy of this

order on newly joined cross-defendants and to file proof of service.

. Fazomda .
Dated: 05/10/2019 Mk sl

Judge Winlfred ¥, Smith

Order
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse

 Case Number: RG19013798
Order Aftor Hearing Re: of 06/10/2019 L

DECLARATION OF SERVICE BY MAIL

use and that a true and correct copy of the

foregoing document was mailed first class, postage prepaid, In a sealed envelops,
addressed as shown on the foregolng document or on'the attached, and that the
malling of the forageing and execution of this certlflcate occurred at

1225 Fallon Street, Oakland, Californla.

Executed on 05/15/2018.
Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Court

o (7w K

| certify that | am not a parly to this ca

Deputy Clerk
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. . 1
" Mokarem & Associates 1 r Equinox Holdings, Inc.
Attn: Almon Esg, Samuel D.

11601 Wilshirc Blvd.

Ste 2440
L Los Angeles, CA 90025 J L J
Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Rene C. Davidson Alameda County Courthouse
Fodera No. R(319013798

PlnintififPatitionen(s)
V8.

Equinox Holdings, Inc. NOTICE OF HEARING

Defendant/Respondent(s)
{Abbrevialed Title)

To each party or to the attomey(s} of record for cach party herein:

Notice is hercby given that the above-entitled action has been set for;

Complex Determination Hearing
Case Managoment Conference

You are hereby notified to appear at the following Count location on the date and
time noted below:

Complex Determination Hearing:
DATE: 05/08/2019 TIME: 09:00 AM DEPARTMENT: 21
LOCATION: Administration Building, Fourth Floor

1221 Oak Street, Oakland

Casc Mana;';ement Conferonce:
DATE: 06/05/2019 TIME: 09.01 AM DEPARTMENT: 21

LOCATION: Administration Building, Fourth Floor
1221 Oak Streat, Oakland

Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 3.400 et seq. and Local Rule 3,250 (Unificd Rules of
the Superior Court, County of Alameda), ihe above-entitled matter is set for a Complex Litigation
Determination Hearing and Initia! Complex Case Management Conference.

Department 21 issues tentative rulings on DomainWeb (wwiw.alameda.courts.ca.gov/domainweb).
For parties lacking access 10 DomainWeb, the tenlative ruling must be obtained from the clerk-at
(510) 267-6937. Please consult Rule 3.30(c) of the Unified Rules of the Superior Court, County of
Alameda, concerning the tertative ruling procedurcs for Department 21,

Counsel or party requesting complex litigation designation is ordered to serve a copy of this notice
on all parties omitted from this notice or brought into the action after (his notice was mailed.

All counsel of record and any unrepresented parties are ordered to attend this Initial Complex Case
Management Conference unless othenwise notified by the Court.

Failure to appear, comply with local rules or provide a Case Management Conference statement
may result in sanctions. Case Management Stalements may be filed by E-Delivery, by submitting
dircetly to the E-Delivery Fax Number (516) 267-5732. No fee is charged for this service. For
further information, go to Direet Calendar Departments at
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\

http:llnpps.nlumeda.courts.ca.govldomainwcb.

All motions in this matter to be heard prior to Complex Litigation Delermination Hearing must be
scheduled for hearing in Department 21.

If the information contained in this notice requires change or clarifteation, please contact the
courtroom clerk for Department 21 by e-mait at Dept.21 @alameda,couris.ca.gov or by phone at
(510) 267-6937.

TELEPHONIC COURT APPEARANCES at Case Management Conferences may be available by
contacting CourtCall, an Independent vendor, at least 3 business days prior to the scheduled
conference. Partics can make arrangements by calling (388) 882-6878, or faxing a service requést
form to (888) $83-2946. This service is subject to charges by the vendor,

Dated: 04/08/2019 Chad Finke Executive Officer / Clerk of the Superior Court

By BD‘“"-&*@’KT

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
I certify that the following is true and corrcet: Iam the olerk of the above-named court and not a party lo
this canse. [ sorved this Notice by placing copies in cnvolopes addressed as shown hereon and then by
sealing and placing them for collection, stamping or metering with prepaid postage, and mailing on the date
stated below, in the United States mail at Alameda County, alifornia, following standard court practices.

Executed on 04/09/2019.
-] )

Deputy Clerk

Deputy Clerk
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__Q‘ITORNEYON PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (Namy, Sitlo Dar pimbat, and addrs);
Ronald W, Makarem, Es% ASBMBUMZ)

Semuel D. Almon, Esq. ( #243569% ‘
Makarem & Asscclates, 11601 Wilshire Blvd. Ste 2440, Los Angeles, GA 80025 ENDU HSED
Towesnone Hos 310-312-0299 ratno: 310-312-0268 FILED
srtomiey For pisse); Plalntlff, FRANK J. FODERA, JR Indlviduall and on behall, efe. ALAMEDA COUNTY

BURERIOR COURT OF CAUFORNIA, COUNTY OF Alamdea
smuor aoosess; 1226 Falion Sirest

o aporess: 1226 Fallon Street
ey ant zip coe: Oalkland, Callformia 24612

pRavgl Nayo; Ren dgop Cou 8
| CASE NAME:
‘| FRANK J. FODERA, JR, etc., ot al, v.EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC,, elo,, 6t al,
CiVIL CASE COVER SHEET Complox Caso Daslgnation GRIERIM IR il
7] }ﬂg,ﬁ?d - E'A"r:]gﬂgl D Countor ] Jdolndor Qé" l ?0/3 7q (g
Juoot
demandad demended {a Flied with Oret eppearance by defandent
exceeds $25,000)  $25.000 or loas) {Cal, Rulos of Court, rulp 3.402) DEFTE

Tlorms 1-0 befow mus! ba completed (596 Insiruelions on page Z).
1. Chock ono tox belew for lhe casa type (et boel deacribes this casa:

Aulg Tort Controct Provislonally Gomplox Givl Liligation
Aulo {22) Broaeh of contracliwaranty (08} (Gal, Rulos of Caurl, rvies 3.400-0.400)
Untnsurod molorisi {46) fulo 3,740 coltoclions (08) ] AnttrustTrado regulation (03)
?thur Pwmgh{f;cém;:wnj:wmmpuny Othor colloations (08) = ;omt:u;ﬂ;z ;iuluc.i {10}
gmagolvvron o ° insuronco covaruge {18) pag
Agbostos (04} [T otiter contraot {37) [ socurties lilgalten {28)
| Produc llabllly (24) Renl Froperty EnviranmontoyToxle tarl (30}
Mudical malpraclico (45) 3 Eminent domuintnverse ‘Ineuranco ceverage clalme erfalng from lho
(1 otner PPDWD (23) condemnotlon (14) abovo [slod provislonally complox case
Non-PUPDIWD (Other) Tort Wrongful oviclion {33) typos (41)
[ | Businono torfunfalr buolnwss practico (07) ] Othor raal proposty (26) IE“:"‘"““‘““‘ of Judgemun!
Clvil sighls (0B) %mm Dotalnor Entorcamant of judgmont {20)
Dafamation (13} Commorclal (31} Miscollonooua Civll Gomplefat
, Fraud {16} E:] Raoldonllal {32) [:] RICO (27)
Intullociue) proporty {19} ] Druge (38} D Other compleint {rot spediffed ebove) (42)
Profosatonal nogligenco (25) udlolal Rovigw Miscollzneous Olvil Petilon
Othor non-PIPD/WD torl (35) Asaal forfottura (0) ] parinarehip and corparata gevomanca (21)
Er_nﬂloymunl Pollton ro; arbltralion award (11) D Othor polillen (ot spociiiod abovo) (43)
Wrongful larminallen {38) D Writ of mandalo (02) .
{71 Othor smploymont (16} [ othorJudiolal roview (38)

2. Thiscase [¥ i [ Jisnot  complox under rule 3.400 of the Callfarnie Rules of Court. I the case [s complex, matk lhe
faclors requlring oxoopiiens) Judiclal managamant;
a.[_] Large number of separatoly repreaonied pariies d. 7] Large number of winescae
v.[Z] Extencive molion pragtlco ralelng difficull or novol o, ] coordinalan with related aclions pending In ene or mere coura
lasues thal will bo Ume-consuming lo rasolve In other counlles, states, ar countrles, ortn 8 fedaral courl -
o. 7] Substantial ameunt of dooumenlary evidonce t. ) substantlal posjudgment Judiclal suparvislon

3. Remodlas sought {chack all that eppfy): a7 monatary b.[Z] nonmonotary; declaralory or Injunctive relief  o.[Jpuniive
4, Number of cauaeo of agllon (speaifyli 10

6. Thiscese ¥ [TJrenet o class acilon sul,
g. Il there are any known reletod cases, flle and serve @ notloo of related case. (You may yde [rm Ci-016)

Date; Aptl 38,2019
Samuel D, Almon )
(TYPE QR PRINT HAMEI
NOTIGE

« Pleintitf must filo thls cover shaol with the first poper fited jn the aallon ar proceeding (oxcopt small claims casod or cases filed
\indor the Probolo Code, Family Godo, or Wollars and Insllivllona Cods), {Cal. Rulas of Court, rule 3,220.) Fallure to fllo may rosull

In sugcﬂons.
+ Filo {hip cover ghoat [n adgilion to any covor aheot raquired by tooe] cour rula,

» |t I)e casa s complex undsr rule 3,400 el s0g, of tha Galifemla Rules of Court, you musl sorve & copy of thia cover shaat on all

oltor perlles to the aolion or procaeding.
» Unlane the Is & collaolions case under ruls 3,740 or a complox case, Lhis covar sheot wil bo usad for statistical purposos only.

rm‘ggmﬂummmqu“ CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET Tal, fviow of Coust, relow 2,30, 1220, 3,400-0,403, X740;
o uf Cahfem'a . :
Hodeal Councto Al uw-uummmm.dg'no

WWW.O00086181Y, ¢om
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INSTRUCTIONS ON HOW TO COMPLETE THE Cco
pors. If you are fling a first papar (for axampl

To Plalpliffs and Others Fillng First Pa
t, lhe Clvil Case Cover Shesl conlaln

complete and fite, alang with your first pape
slallstics about the types and numbers of cas
one box for the caae type that best desciibes

ed on page

cM-010

VER SHEET
g, a complalnl) in & clvll case, you must
4. This Information will be uged to complle

ss flled. You must complete items 1 through & on the sheet. In llem 1, you must check
the case. il the case flis both a general and a more specific type of case listed in item 1,

chesk (ha mora specliic one, Il the cage has mulliple causes of actlon, check the box

To asslst you In completing Ihe sheal, examplas of the cases thal belon
sheet must be filad only with yaur Inftlel
its counsel, or both lo sanctlons under ru

papar. Fallura to file a coyer sh
las 2.30 and 3.220 of the Galifomla Rut

fhat best indicates the primary. cause of actloh.
g under each case type In llem 1 are provided balow, A cover
ogl wlth the first paper flled In a olvll case may subject a party,
as of Courl,

To Partles In Rula 3.740 Collectlons Cases, A seolleclions case” undar rule 3.740 s defined as an ection for recovery of money
owed in & sum statad la be cerlain that Is nol more than $25,000, exclusive of Interast

which property, services, or money was acquired on credil. A
damages, (2) punitive dameges, (3) recavery of real prope
altachment, The ldentificatlon of a case as @ rule 3,740 collsclions case on
_timo-for-service requirements and case managemen
case will ba subject to the requlrements for sarvice an

collections case doas nol
rty, (4) recovery of persona
this form mea

and attorney's fees, arlsing from a iransaclion In
1 Include an aclion seeking (he following: {1} torl
| properly, or (5} a prejudgment will of
ns that It Wil be exempt from lhe general
t rules, unless a defendant fllas -a responsive pleading. A rule 3.740 collections
d obtalning a Judgment in rute 3.740,

To Parlles In Complex Cases. In complex cases only, parlles must also use ihe Civil Case Cover Sheet lo designale whether the

case is complex. If a plainliff bellove
' comgpleting the appropriate boxes In
“complaint on all pariles to the action. A de
plaintiff's deslgnatlon, a counler-dasignation thal [he cese Is not complex, or,

lhe case |s complex.

Aulo Tort
Aulo {22)-Personal Injury/Proparty
Damapgo/Wrongiul Death
Uninsurad Motorist {45) ;If the
case fnvelves en uninsured
motorist clalm subjact to
arbitration, chack lhis llem
insload of Aulo)
Olher PUPDMWD (Pornanal Injury!
Proparty Damage/Wrongful Doath)

Torl

Asbostos (04}

Asbeslos Proporty Damage
Asheslos Personal Injury/
Wrongful Doalh
Pratiucl Llabllity (nof asbostos o¢
foxiclenvirormantal) (24)

Madical Malpraclca (45)

Medical Malpraclice-
Physiclans & Surgeons

Olher Professiona! Health Care
Malpractice

Olher PUPDAND (23}

Premisas Liablity (o-g., slip
and fall}

Intentional Bodlly Injury/PD/WD
{o.g., assaull, vandallsm)

Intoniional inffetion of
Emotlonel Diskress

Negligant [nfllallon of
Emotlonal Dlslress

Other PIPDIWD

Non-PIIPDIWD {Olher) Tort
Businoss TarlUnlalr Business
Practlca {07}

Civll Rights (¢.9., discrimination,
fajse arrosly (nol chil
herassmonl) {08)

Dolan}ullon {e.g., slandar, libel}

K

Fraud (16}
inleligciual Proporly (18)
Profosslonal Nagligence {25)
Logal Malpractice
Other Profassional Maipractice
(not modicel or lepal)
Other Non-PIPDMWED Tor {35)
Employmani
Wronglul Terminatlon (35)
Other Ernploymen! {15}

s the case la comple

fendanl may {lle and serve no |

CASE TYPES AND EXAMPLES
Conlracl
Braach of ContracUWarranty (06)
Brench of RontaliLoase
Conlract {nol uniawiul detulner
or wrongfu! eviclion)
ConlrocU/Warranty Breach—-Sollar
Plalnilif (nol fraud or neg/iigence}
Nsgllgant Broach of Conlracl/
Warranty
Clhor Braach of ConlractWarranty
Collaclions {e.g., monay owed, open
book accounls) (09
Calleclion Ceso—Sallar Plelntiif
Olhar Promlssory Nole/Collactions

Caso
Insurance Coveraga {nol provisionally
complex) {18)
Aulo Subrogallon
Othar Coverasgo

Other Conlrac! (37)
Conlratlual Fraud
Olhor Gontracl Dispule

Roal Property

Eminent Domainfinverse
Condemnation (14)

Wrongful Evictlon (33)

Olhar Real Proparly (g.g., qulol Ua) (26)
Wit of Possession of Roal Property
Morlgagoe Foreclosure
Qulet Tille
Olher Real Property (nol eminant
domein, landiordiienont, or
forgclosuro)

Unlowdul Detainer

Commarelal {31)

Resldenilal (32}

Drugs {38) i/ the cose involves llegs!
drugs, chack this flom; othorwise,
ropoert as Commerclal of Residoniial)

Judlelal Review

Agsol Forfaliure (05)

Pelifion Re: Arbitration Award (1)

Wil of Mandala (02)
Wri-Adminisirallve Mandamus
Wril-Mandamus on Limited Gourl

Casa Mailer
Wril-Other Limiled Count Case
Raview

Olhor.Judiclal Reviow (39)

Ravlew of Health Oflicer Order
Nellco of Appeal-Labor
Commissloner Appeals

% under rula 3.400 of the Califomla Rules of Cour, this musl be {ndicated by
itemns 1 and 2. If a plainliff deslgnales a case as complex, the covar sheel must bé served with the
aler than the time of lis first appearance & Joindar In the
if the ptaintlif has made no designatlon, a designallon that

Pravislonally Gomplox Clvil Lillgation {Cal.
Rulos of Court Rules 3,400-3.403)
AnfilrustTrade Regulation (03)
Conslryclion Defoc! (10)
Clalms Invoiving Masa Torl (40)
Sacurilioz Litigalion (28)
EnvironmoentaliToxle Ter (30)
insuranco Coveraga Clalms
(arising from provisionolty complex
case Iype lislad above) (41)
enforcemont of Judpment
Enforcament of Judgment {20}
Abaltracl of Judgment (Out of
County)
Conlgsston of Judgmenl {non-
domastic relaffons)
Siater State Judgmenl
Adminlsirative Agency Award
{riol unpaid laxes)
Pelillan/Cerificallon of Eniry of
Judpmanl on Unpald Texes
Olhs(EEI'Esl'gorcemont of Judgment

Migeellangous Civil Complaint
RICO (27}
Olher Complalnt (not speciiod
abova) (42)
Declaralory Rellef Only
Injuncliva Reliel Only (non-
harassment)
Machanlcs Lion
Olhor Commarcial Gompialki
Case (non-fortinon-complox)
Othor Civli Cornplelnl
{ronloriinon-complsx)
Miscellrneous Chvll Potillon
Farlnarshlp and Corporals
Governance {21}
Qiher Patltlon (not specifiad
ehovg) (43)
Clylt Harassment
Workplecs Violence
ElderDependant Adull
Abuso
Eloction Contost
Pelltlon for Name Change
Paiition for Rollel From Lalo
Claim
Olhor Clvil Pelillon

CM-010 [Rov. July 1, 2007

CIVIL CASE COVER SHEET
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Superior Court of California, County of Alameda
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Information Packet

The person who files a civil lawsuit (plaintiffy must include the ADR Tn formation Packet
with the complaint when serving the defendant. Cross complainants must serve the ADR
Information Packet on any new parties named to the action.

The Court strongly encomrages the parties 1o use some form of ADR before proceeding to
trial. You may choose ADR by:

o Indicating your preference on Case Management Form CM-110;

« Filing the Stipulation to ADR and Delay Initial Case Management Conference for
90 Days (a local form included with the information packet); or

¢ Agree to ADR at your Initial Case Management Conference.

QUESTIONS? Call (510) 891-6055. Email adrprogram(@alameda.counis.ca.gov
Or visil the court’s website at hltp://www.aIamcda.courls.ca.gov/adr

What Are The Advaniages Of Using ADR?
o Fuster -Litigation can lake years to complete but ADR usualI)'r talkes weels or months.
«  Cheaper — Parties can save on attorneys’ fees and litigation costs.
e More control and flexibility — Parties choose the ADR process appropriate for their case.

»  Cooperative and less stressfif - In mediation, parties cooperate to find a mutually
agrecable resolution.

o Preserve Relationships — A mediator can help you effectively communicate your
interests and point of view to the other side. This is an important benefit when you want
lo preserve a relationship. '

What Is The Disadvantage Of Using ADR?

e You may go to cour{ anyway — If you cannol resolve your dispute using ADR, you may
still have to spend time and money resolving your lawsuit through the courts.

What ADR Options Ave Available?

o Moediation — A neutral person (mediator) helps the parties communicale, clarify facts,
identify legal issues, explore settlement options, and agree on a solution that is acceptable
io all sides.

o Court Mediation Program: Mediators do not charge fees for the first two hours of
mediation. If parties need more time, they must pay the mediator’s regular fees.

ADR Info Shect.Rev. 12/15/10 fage [ of 2
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Seme mediators ask for a deposit before mediation starts which is subject to a refund
for unusec time,

o Private Mediation: This is nediation where the parties pay the mediator’s regular
fees and may choose a mediator outside the court’s panel.

o Arbitration — A neutral person (arbitrator) hears arguments and evidence from each side
and then decides the outcome of the dispute. Arbitration is less formal than a trial and the
rules of evidence are often relaxed. Arbitration is effective when the parties wanl
someone other than themselves to decide the outcome.

o Judicial Arbitration Program (mon-binding): The judge can refer a case or the
parties can agree to use judicial arbitration. The parties select an arbitrator from a list
provided by the court. 1f the parties caunot agree on an arbitrator, one will be
assigned by the court. There is no fee for the arbitrator. The arbitrator must send the
decision (award of the arbitrator) to the court. The parties have the. right to reject the
award and proceed to frial,

o Private Arbitration (binding and non-binding) occurs when parties involved in-a
dispute either agree or are contractially obligated. This option takes place outside of
the cotrts and is normally binding meaning the arbitrator’s decision is final.

Mediation Service Pragrams In Alameda County

Low cost mediation services are available through non-profit community organizatiens.
Trained volunteer medialors provide these services. Contact the following organizations for

‘more information;

SELDS Community Resolution Center

1968 San Pablo Avenue, Berkeley, CA 94702-1612

Telephone: (510) 548-2377  Website: www.seedscre.org

Their mission is (o provide mediation, facilitation, lraining and education programs in our
diverse communities — Services that Encourage Effective Dialogue and Solution-making.

Center tor Community Dispute Settlement

29| McLeod Street, Livermore, CA 34550

Telephone: (925)373-1035  Website: www trivalleymediation.com
CCDS provides services in the Tri-Valley area for all of Alameda County.

For Vietim/Offender Restorative Justice Services

Catholic Charities of the Last Bay: Oakland

433 Jefferson Street, Oakland, CA 94607

Telephone: (510) 768-3100  Website: www.cceb.org
“Mediation sesslons involve the youth, victim, and family members work toward a mutually
agreeable reslitution agreement,

ADR Info Sheet.Rev, 12/15/10 Page 2 of 2
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ALA ADR-001

ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOLT ATTORNEY {Name, State Bar rumbay, and addrass) FOR COURT USE ONLY

TELEPHOMNE NO.: FAX NQ. {Optional).
E-MAIL ADDRESS {Oplional):
ATTORNEY FOR (Namo):

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, ALAMEDA COUNTY

STREET ADDRESS!
MAILNG ADORESS:
CITY AND 2IP CODE:
ORANCH NAME

PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER:
DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:

TASE NUMBER;

STIPULATION TO ATTEND ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR)
AND DELAY INITIAL CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE FOR 90 DAYS

INSTRUCTIONS: All applicable boxes must be checked, and the specified Information must be provided.

This stipulation is effective when:

+ Al parlles have signed and fited this stipulation wilh the Case Management Conference Stalement at least 15 days before the

tnitial case managemsn! conference. .
«  Acopy of this stipulation has been ieceived by the ADR Program Administrator, 1225 Fallon Street, Cakland, CA 94612,

1. Dale complaint filed. _ An Inltlal Case Management Conference Is scheduled for:

Dale: Time: Departn}ent:

2. Counsel and all parties cerlify thay have met and conlerred and have selecied the following ADR process {check one).

0 Courl medialion O Judiclal arblication
[ Private mediation 3 Private arbitration

3. Al parties agree to complete ADR within 80 days and cerlify that:

a. No party fo the case has requasted a camplex civil itigatien detarmination haaring;

h. Al parties have been served and Intend to submit to the jurisdiclion of the courl;

¢c. Al parlies have agreed to a spacific plan lor sulficient discovery to.make the ADR process meaningful;

d. Copies of this stipulation and self-addressed stamped envelopes are provided for returning endorsed filed stamped copies to
counsel and all parties;

e. Case managemenl statements ara submitted wilh this stipulation;

f. Al panles will allend ADR conferences, and,

g. The court will not allow more than 90 days lo complele ADR.

| declare under penally of perjury under the laws of the State of Galifarnia that the foregaing is true and correct.

Dale:

>

(TYPE OR PRUNT NAME) ' (SIGNATURE OF PLAINTIFF)

Date:

>

{TYPE OR PRINT HAME) (SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF)

Page 10l 2

Form Approved o Mandaioy Uie — gp 1)) ATION TO ATTEND ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) - Fctuns 2l fowr

Supeiior Couid of Califatala, rule 332 1(a}4}

Counly al Mameda AND DELAY INITIAL CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE FOR 90 DAYS

ALA ADR.001 (Now Januery 1, 2010)
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ALA ADR-001
CASE NUMBER.:
PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER:
DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT:
Date:
(TYPE OR PRINT MAME) (SIGNATURE OF DEFENDANT)
Dale:
(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) (SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT)
Papp2 ol 2

Form Approved for Mandatory Uso STIPULATION TO ATTEND ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR) Cal. Hules ol Court,

Supnrior Courl of Californlo, rule 3.221(a)4)

Counly of Alserda AND DELAY INITIAL GASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE FOR 90 DAYS

ALA ADR-00H [Now January 1, 2010}
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To: KATY AREAS ESPINOZA . CALIFORNIA

LAROCCA HORNIK ROSEN ET AL
THE TRUMP BLDG 40 WALL ST 32ND FL

NEW YORK, NY 10005 Service of Process #: CA005228

SERVICE OF PROCESS INFORMATION

Date Served: 7/18/2019 12:15 PM

Parties in Action: FRANK FODERA VS EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

Name under which Service of Proces;s was made: EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

Court/Agency/Department: SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA
Case/lnstrument Number: RG19013798

Type of Service/Document(s) served: Complaint/Petition/Third Party Complaint
Summons/Citation/Third Party Summons

Method of Service: Process Server
Answer Date: 30 CALENDAR DAYS

Service received from: SAMUEL D ALMON
MAKAREM & ASSQCIATES
11601 WILSHIRE BLVD SUITE 2440
Los Angeles, California 90025
(310) 312-0299

The data provided above is for Informational purposes only and should not be considered
a legal oplnion. Piease take appropriate action when recelving this Service of Process.

GKL Corporate/Search, Inc, Toll Free: (800} 446-5455
One Capitol Mall, Suite 660 Phone: (916) 442-7652
Sacramento, California 95814 Fax: (916) 442-1797
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Mia Farber (SBN 131467)
mia.farber(@jacksonlewis.com

Nima Darouian (SBN 271367)
nima.darouian@jacksonlewis.com
JACKSON LEWIS P.C.

725 South Figueroa Street, Suite 2500
Los Angeles, California 90017-5408
Telephone: (213) 689-0404
Facsimile: (213) 689-0430

Attorneys for Defendant
EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK J. FODERA, JR. and

MICHAEL M. BONELLA, individually

and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a

Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-50,

inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.:

DECLARATION OF NETA
LEVANON IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF
REMOVAL OF ACTION TO THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE NORTHERN
DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No.

DECLARATION OF NETA LEVANON IN
SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF
REMOVAL
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DECLARATION OF NETA LEVANON

I, Neta Levanon, declare as follows:

1. 1 hold the position of Senior Counsel for Defendant Equinox Holdings, Inc.
(“Equinox” or “Defendant™. I work for Equinox in New York, New York. I am over the age of
eighteen and have personal knowledge of the facts set forth herein and, if called as a witness, I counld
and would testify competently as to them.

2. Since the filing of this lawsuit, Defendant has at all times been incorporated under the
laws of the State of Delaware. At all relevant times, Defendant’s principal place of business and
corporate headquarters has beer: in New York, New York. Further, Defendant’s high-level corporate
officers are located at its headquarters in New York, New York. Accordingly, all of Defendant’s
primary, executive, administrative, financial, policymaking, and management functions are
performed in the State of New York.

3. Defendant’s Board of Directors typically meets at its headquariers in New York, New
York.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America and the
States of California and New York that the foregoing is true and correct.

Fin
Executed on this I 6- day of Angust, 2019 at New. York, New York.

Jlols

NETA LEVANON

Case No. 2 DECLARATION OF NETA LEVANON IN
_SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT 'S NOTICE OF

REMOVAL OF ACTION TO THE UNITED

STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR TEE

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
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Mia Farber (SBN 131467)
mia.farber@jacksonlewis.com

Nima Daroutan (SBN 271367)
nima.darouian(@jacksonlewis.com
JACKSON LEWIS P.C.

725 South Figueroa Street, Suite 2500
Los Angeles, California 90017-5408
Telephone: (213) 689-0404
Facsimile: (213) 689-0430

Attorneys for Defendant
EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK J. FODERA, JR. and

MICHAEL M. BONELLA, individually

and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

EQUINOX HOLDINGS, INC., a

Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-50,

inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.:

DECLARATION OF EMERSON
FIGUEROA IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF
REMOVAL OF ACTION TO THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE NORTHERN
DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No.

DECLARATION OF EMERSON FIGUEROA
IN SUFPORT OF DEFENDANT'S NOTICE
OF REMOVAL OF ACTION TO THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR

THE NORTHERN
CALIFORNIA

DISTRICT
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DECLARATION OF EMERSON FIGUEROA

I, Emerson Figueroa, declare as follows:

L. I am currently employed by Equinox Holdings, Inc. (“Equinox™) as the Senior
Regional Director of People Services (Equinox’s human resourced department) for the West Coast
Region, which consists of the entire State of California.

2. I am over the age of eighteen and have personal knowledge of the facts set forth herein
and, if called as a witness, I could and would testify competently as to them. I submit this declaration
in support of Equinox’s Notice of Removal of Action to the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California.

3. I have held my current position since April 1, 2019. Prior to that, from April 1, 2015
to March 31, 2019, I was the Regional Director of People Services for the same geographical area,
and prior to that, from January 26, 2014 through March 31, 2015, I was Equinox’s Senior Manager
of Human Resources for the same geographical area.

4. In my role as the Senior Regional Director of People Services for the West Coast
Region, I am responsible for, among other things, providing support, leadership and oversight of
People Services activities for Equinox California. In my current role, [ am familiar with Equinox
policies and practices and have access to personnel files, time records and pay records of employees
and former employees such as Plaintiff Frank Fodera, Jr. (“Fodera™) and Michael M. Bonella
(“Bonella”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs™).

5. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, Fodera is a
citizen of the United States, and he is employed with the Equinox Sports Club located in West Los
Angeles, California. Furthermore, from at least on or about April 11, 2016 to the present, Fodera has

represented to Equinox that he is domiciled in California. In fact, from April 2016 to the present day,

Case No. D) DECLARATION OF EMERSON FIGUEROA
IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S NOTICE
OF REMOVAL OF ACTION TO THE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE NORTHERN  DISTRICT OF
CALIFORNIA
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his home address has consistently been an address located in Los Angeles, California. At no point
during his employment with Equinox has Fodera ever communicated to People Services that he has
another home in a different state, or that he intends on returning to a different state.

6. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, Bonella is a
citizen of the United States, and was formerly employed with the Equinox’s Pine Street Club in San
Francisco, California and Equinox’s La Costa Club in Carlsbad, California. Furthermore, from at
least October 27, 2015 to June 6, 2018, Bonella represented to Equinox that he was domiciled in
California. In fact, from October 27, 2015 to June 6, 2018 (i.e., the end of Bonella’s employment
with Equinox), his home addresses were consistently addresses located in California. At no point
during his employment with Equinox did Bonella communicate to People Services that he had another
home in a different state, or that he intended on returning to a different state.

7. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, Fodera has been
employed by Equinox since April 11, 2016. Throughout his employment with Equinox, Fodera has
been paid on a biweekly basis. The first pay period that Fodera received a pay statement from
Equinox was the pay period ending on April 16,2016, From April 16, 2016 to the present day, there
have been approximately 86 pay periods for which Fodera received a pay statement.

8. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, Bonella was
employed by Equinox from October 27, 2015 through June 6, 2018. Throughout his employment
with Equinox, Bonella was paid on a biweekly basis. The first pay period that Bonella received a pay
statement from Equinox was the pay period ending on October 31, 2015. From October 31, 2015 to
June 6, 2018 (the last date of employment), there were approximately 68 pay periods for which
Bonella recetved a pay statement.

9. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, approximately
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2,495 individuals formerly employed as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both, in
California left their employment with Defendant or were otherwise “terminated” between April 3,
2015 to July 17,2019,

10, Based on my review of personnel ﬁlés, time records, and pay records, from April 3,
2018 to approximately April 3, 2019, there are/were approximately 2,414 current and former non-
exempt employees employed by Defendant as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both, in
California.

1. It is my understanding members of the putative class who work or worked for
Defendant are/were paid biweekly, or every two weeks.

12. Based on my review of personnel files, time records, and pay records, the putative
class includes approximately 4,299 current and former employees who were employed by Defendant
as personal trainers, group fitness instructors, or both, in California between April 3, 2015 and

approximately August 6, 2019.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of fhe United States of America and the State
of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

Execution on this ﬂf& day of August, 2019 at Los Ange! ’s/.,,..-Gﬁl.i'..J’omiah

EMERSON UEROA
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